ACTA MYOLOGICA

(Myopathies, Cardiomyopathies and Neuromyopathies)

Vol. XXXVII - December 2018

Official Journal of Mediterranean Society of Myology and Associazione Italiana di Miologia

Founders: Giovanni Nigro and Lucia Ines Comi

Three-monthly

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF Luisa Politano

ASSISTANT EDITOR Vincenzo Nigro

CO-EDITORS

Valerie Askanas Lefkos Middleton Giuseppe Novelli Reinhardt Rüdel





Established in 1982 as Cardiomyology

ACTA MYOLOGICA

(Myopathies, Cardiomyopathies and Neuromyopathies)

Official Journal of Mediterranean Society of Myology and Associazione Italiana di Miologia

Founders: Giovanni Nigro and Lucia Ines Comi

Three-monthly

EDITORIAL BOARD

Corrado Angelini, Padova Enrico Bertini, Roma Serge Braun, Paris Kevin P. Campbell, Iowa City Marinos Dalakas, Athens Feza Devmeer. Instanbul Salvatore Di Mauro, New York Denis Duboc. Paris Victor Dubowitz, London Massimiliano Filosto, Brescia Fayçal Hentati, Tunis Michelangelo Mancuso, Pisa Giovanni Meola, Milano Eugenio Mercuri, Roma Carlo Minetti, Genova Clemens Müller, Würzburg Francesco Muntoni, London

Carmen Navarro, Vigo Luís Negrão, Coimbra Gerardo Nigro, Napoli Anders Oldfors, Göteborg Elena Pegoraro, Padova Heinz Reichmann, Dresden Filippo Maria Santorelli, Pisa Serenella Servidei, Roma Piraye Serdaroglu, Instanbul Yeuda Shapira, Jerusalem Osman I. Sinanovic, Tuzla Michael Sinnreich, Montreal Andoni J. Urtizberea, Hendaye Gert-Jan van Ommen, Leiden Steve Wilton. Perth Massimo Zeviani, London Janez Zidar, Ljubliana





EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Luisa Politano, Napoli

ASSISTANT EDITOR

Vincenzo Nigro, Napoli

CO-EDITORS

Lefkos Middleton, Nicosia Giuseppe Novelli, Roma Reinhardt Rüdel, Ulm Gabriele Siciliano, Pisa Haluk Topaloglu, Ankara Antonio Toscano, Messina

EDITORIAL STAFF

Chiara Fiorillo Lorenzo Maggi Giulia Ricci Vincenzo Russo

BOARD OF THE MEDITERRANEAN SOCIETY OF MYOLOGY

V. Nigro, *President*

H. Topaloglu, Past President

L.T. Middleton, G. Siciliano, Vice Presidents

K. Christodoulou, Secretary

L. Politano, Treasurer

E. Abdel-Salam, M. Dalakas, F. Deymeer, F. Hentati, G. Meola, Y. Shapira, E. Tizzano, A. Toscano,

J. Zidar

Co-opted Members: V. Askanas, S. Di Mauro, R. Rüdel

Acta Myologica publishes 4 issues per year in March, June, September, December. The Journal is available in OPEN ACCESS at: www.actamyologica.it

Acta Myologica is cited in Index Medicus/MEDLINE, Medicine, Excerpta Medica Database (EMBASE), Index Copernicus and monitored for coverage in Chemical Abstracts Service. The Journal is available on PubMed Central (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pmc/journals/1221/).

All correspondence should be addressed to: Mediterranean Society of Myology - Cardiomyology and Medical Genetics - Primo Policlinico - Piazza Miraglia - 80138 Naples, Italy - Tel. +39 081 566 5300 - Fax +39 081 566 5101.

Editor in Chief: Luisa Politano

Tribunal Authorization, Napoli N. 3827, January 10, 1989 - Journal registered at "Registro pubblico degli Operatori della Comunicazione" (Pacini Editore srl registration n. 6269 - 29/8/2001).

The editor remains at the complete disposal of those with rights whom it was impossible to contact, and for any omissions.

© 1981 Gaetano Conte Academy. All rights reserved.

The Journal and the individual contributions contained in it are protected by the copyright of Gaetano Conte Academy and the following terms and conditions apply to their use:

Photocopies, for personal use, are permitted within the limits of 15% of each publication by following payment to SIAE of the charge due, article 68, paragraphs 4 and 5 of the Law April 22, 1941, No 633.

Reproductions for professional or commercial use or for any other other purpose other than personal use can be made following a written request and specific authorization in writing from AIDRO, Corso di Porta Romana, 108, 20122 Milan, Italy, E-mail: segreteria@aidro.org and web site: www.aidro.org.

Publisher

Pacini Editore

Via A. Gherardesca - 56121 Pisa, Italy

Published by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy, December 2018

CONTENTS

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

The role of rehabilitation in the management of late-onset Pompe disease: a parrative review of the level of evidence	
Giovanni Iolascon, Michele Vitacca, Elena Carraro, Carmelo Chisari, Pietro Fiore, Sonia Messina, Tiziana Enrica Giovanna Mongini, Valeria A. Sansone, Antonio Toscano, Gabriele Siciliano, on behalf of AIM (Italian Association of Myology), AIPO (Italian Association of Hospital Pulmonologists), SIRN (Italian Society of Neurorehabilitation), and SIMFER (Italian Society of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation).	241
Metabolic impairments in patients with myotonic dystrophy type 2 Milorad Vujnic, Stojan Peric, Zeljka Calic, Natasa Benovic, Tanja Nisic, Jovan Pesovic, Dusanka Savic-Pavicevic and Vidosava Rakocevic-Stojanovic	252
Immune-mediated necrotizing myopathy due to statins exposure Luisa Villa, Alberto Lerario, Sonia Calloni, Lorenzo Peverelli, Caterina Matinato, Federica de Liso, Ferruccio Ceriotti Roberto Tironi, Monica Sciacco, Maurizio Moggio, Fabio Triulzi and Claudia Cinnante	, 257
Novel desmoplakin mutations in familial Carvajal syndrome Danat Yermakovich, Larysa Sivitskaya, Tatiyana Vaikhanskaya, Nina Danilenko and Iryna Motuk	263
CASE REPORTS	
Heart Transplantation in a patient with Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 and end-stage dilated cardiomyopathy: a short term follow-up Andrea Antonio Papa, Federica Verrillo, Marianna Scutifero, Anna Rago, Salvatore Morra, Antonio Cassese, Nadia	
Della Cioppa, Maria Cristina Giada Magliocca, Dario Galante, Alberto Palladino, Paolo Golino and Luisa Politano	267
Therapeutic approach with Ataluren in Duchenne symptomatic carriers with nonsense mutations in dystrophin ger Results of a 9-month follow-up in a case report Paola D'Ambrosio, Chiara Orsini, Vincenzo Nigro and Luisa Politano	те. 272
NEWS FROM AROUND THE WORLD	
AIM	275 275 275
FORTHCOMING MEETINGS	276
Volume XXXVII - CONTENTS. Volume XXXVII - AUTHOR INDEX Volume XXXVII - SUBJECT INDEX Volume XXXVII - LIST OF REFEREES CONSULTED in 2018	281 283 288 289
Instructions for Authors	292

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

The role of rehabilitation in the management of late-onset Pompe disease: a narrative review of the level of evidence

GIOVANNI IOLASCON¹, MICHELE VITACCA², ELENA CARRARO³, CARMELO CHISARI⁴, PIETRO FIORE⁵, Sonia Messina⁶, Tiziana Enrica Giovanna Mongini⁷, Valeria A. Sansone⁸, Antonio Toscano⁹ and Gabriele Siciliano¹⁰, on behalf of AIM (Italian Association of Myology), AIPO (Italian Association of Hospital Pulmonologists), SIRN (Italian Society of Neurorehabilitation), and SIMFER (Italian Society of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation)

¹Department of Medical and Surgical Specialties and Dentistry, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Naples, Italy; ² FERS Respiratory Rehabilitative Unit ICS S. Maugeri IRCCS Lumezzane (Bs) Italy; ³ Neuromuscular Omnicentre, Fondazione Serena Onlus, Milan, Italy; ⁴ Unit of Neurorehabilitation, Department of Medical Specialties, University Hospital of Pisa, Italy; ⁵ Department of Basic Sciences, Neuroscience and Sense Organs, University "Aldo Moro", Bari, Italy; ⁶ Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Messina and Nemo Sud Clinical Center, Messina, Italy; ⁷ Neuromuscular Center, AOU Città della Salute e della Scienza, University of Turin, Italy; ⁸ Neurorehabilitation Unit, University of Milan, The Nemo Clinical Center, Milan, Italy; ⁹ Department of Neurosciences, University of Messina, Italy; ¹⁰ Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Italy

Late-onset Pompe disease (LOPD) is characterized by progressive muscle weakness, respiratory muscle dysfunction, and minor cardiac involvement. Although in LOPD, as in other neuromuscular diseases, controlled low impact sub-maximal aerobic exercise and functional ability exercise can improve general functioning and quality of life, as well as respiratory rehabilitation, the bulk of evidence on that is weak and guidelines are lacking. To date, there is no specific focus on rehabilitation issues in clinical recommendations for the care of patients with Pompe disease, and standard practice predominantly follows general recommendation guidelines for neuromuscular diseases. The Italian Association of Myology, the Italian Association of Pulmonologists, the Italian Society of Neurorehabilitation, and the Italian Society of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, have endorsed a project to formulate recommendations on practical, technical, and, whenever possible, disease-specific guidance on rehabilitation procedures in LOPD, with specific reference to the Italian scenario. In this first paper, we review available evidence on the role of rehabilitation in LOPD patients, particularly addressing the unmet needs in the management of motor and respiratory function for these patients.

Key words: endurance and resistance training, late-onset Pompe disease, motor function, rehabilitation, respiratory function

Introduction

Glycogen storage disease type II, also known as Pompe disease, is an autosomal-recessive lysosomal storage disorder caused by the deficiency of the lysosomal acid α -glucosidase, which results in the accumulation of glycogen deposits inside lysosomes within the muscular tissue. Pompe disease manifests clinically across a broad spectrum based on age of onset, progression rate, genetic mutation(s), and disease distribution, and is classified as early- (infantile, classic) or late-onset (non-classic) (1, 2).

Late-onset Pompe disease (LOPD) may present at any age after the second year of life and is characterized by progressive weakness in lower limbs and trunk, with only minor cardiac involvement (3, 4). Respiratory muscle impairment, the primary cause of morbidity and mortality in LOPD patients, is also common and involves both inspiratory and expiratory skeletal muscles (1). To this end, and ahead of the current available enzyme replacement therapy, rehabilitation might be proposed as an effective intervention in improving physical function-

Address for correspondence: Giovanni Iolascon, Department of Medical and Surgical Specialties and Dentistry, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", via De Crecchio 4, 80138 Naples, Italy. E-mail: giovanni.iolascon@gmail.com

Giovanni Iolascon et al.

ing of these patients, however supporting evidence and guidelines to support this are lacking (5).

To date, there are no specific guidelines on rehabilitation issues in clinical recommendations for the care of patients with Pompe disease, and standard practice predominately follows more general recommendations or, where available, guidelines for neuromuscular disease (NMD) (1). This lack of treatment guidelines has led to variable and often limited standards of interventional protocols in clinical practice. Moreover, the low prevalence of Pompe disease has hindered the development of a national or international consensus on the appropriate management of musculoskeletal and respiratory impairment in affected patients (1).

The Italian Association of Myology (AIM), the Italian Association of Hospital Pulmonologists (AIPO), the Italian Society of Neurorehabilitation (SIRN), and the Italian Society of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation (SIMFER), have endorsed a project to formulate recommendations on practical, technical, and, whenever possible, disease-specific guidance on rehabilitation procedures in LOPD, with specific reference to the Italian scenario. In this first, narrative paper, we review available evidence on the role of rehabilitation in the management of LOPD, and define the bases for standardized protocols for the assessment and rehabilitation of musculoskeletal and respiratory impairments in patients with LOPD.

Methods

A multidisciplinary collaboration of 10 clinicians, members of the AIM, AIPO, SIRN, and SIMFER, was established to review current evidence in the field of rehabilitation in Pompe disease. This open forum agreed that two working groups, one on musculoskeletal rehabilitation and a second on pulmonary rehabilitation, should be developed to evaluate available studies and try to standardize patients' assessment and exercise plan. To date, evidence as to whether rehabilitation is effective in LOPD seems poor and contradictory. Therefore, the authors proposed a literature review based on a search of the EMBASE, CINALH, PubMed, PsychINFO, and Scopus databases, using the following keywords: LOPD and guidelines, rehabilitation and LOPD, training and LOPD, physical activity and LOPD, exercise and LOPD. English language papers published between 2000 and 2017 were considered. Papers were selected for inclusion on the basis of their relevance to the topic, according to Authors' judgment.

The level of the evidence of selected studies was defined according to the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). In addition, the Grades of Recommendation, Assessment, Development and Evaluation Working Group (GRADE) method was used to evaluate the quality of evidence with respect to each relevant outcome. The results of the literature research and the outcomes of the SIGN and GRADE evaluation are summarized in Tables 1 and 2.

Rehabilitation of motor function in LOPD: state of the art

Enzyme replacement therapy (ERT) with recombinant human acid α -glucosidase (Myozyme/Lumizyme) was approved in 2006 for the treatment of Pompe disease and positive effects of ERT on skeletal muscle strength,

Table 1. Level of evidence according to the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) for studies investigating the role of rehabilitation of motor and respiratory functions in patients with late-onset Pompe disease.

Studies (Author, date, reference)	Level of evidence
Borg 1970 (18)	4
Bach et al. 1996 (48)	2+
Bach 1999 (33)	4
Wasserman et al. 1999 (19)	4
Baydur et al. 2001 (49)	2+
Mellies et al. 2001 (50)	2+
Ragette et al. 2002 (51)	2+
Shneerson et al. 2002 (41)	3
Hill et al. 2004 (40)	4
Slonim et al. 2007 (12)	2-
Mellies et al. 2009 (38)	3
Van der Beek et al. 2009 (34)	2+
Vitacca et al. 2009 (39)	4
van den Berg et al. 2010 (27)	2+
van der Ploeg et al. 2010 (11)	1+
Vitacca et al. 2011 (35)	4
Angelini et al. 2012 (6)	2-
de Vries et al. 2012 (7)	2+
Favejee et al. 2012 (5)	3
van der Ploeg et al. 2012 (46)	1+
Ambrosino et al. 2013 (37)	3
Gungor et al. 2013 (8)	2+
Toscano et al. 2013 (10)	1-
Vianello et al. 2013 (47)	2+
Vitacca et al. 2013 (36)	3
Hundsberger et al. 2014 (45)	2-
Bertoldo et al. 2015 (28)	2-
Crescimanno et al. 2015 (20)	2-
Favejee et al. 2015 (17)	2+
Jevnikar et al. 2015 (43)	2-
Schoser et al. 2015 (31)	4
van den Berg et al. 2015 (13)	2+
Aslan et al. 2016 (42)	2-
Jones et al. 2016 (44)	2-
Schoser et al. 2017 (9)	1-

Table 2. Appropriateness of recommendations according to t	he GRADE method for outcomes addressed in clinical guide-
lines for the rehabilitation management of motor and respirator	y impairments in patients with late-onset Pompe disease.

Clinical Guidelines (Author, date, reference)	Level of evidence for rehabilitation management	GRADE-like recommendations based on level of evidence
Kishnani et al. 2006 (3)	3	 Submaximal, functional, and aerobic exercise may improve muscle function Gentle daily stretching, orthotic intervention, splinting, seating systems and standing supports may prevent or minimize contracture and deformity
Barba-Romero et al. 2012 (29)	3	Aerobic exercise may improve motor function
Cupler et al. 2012 (26)	3	 Submaximal aerobic exercise, incorporating functional activities may increase muscle strength Daily stretching, orthotic devices, appropriate seating position in the wheelchair, and standing supports may prevent or slow the development of muscle contractures and deformities
Boentert et al. 2016 (1)	3	 Chest physiotherapy and MAC may be sufficient only for patients with mild expiratory muscle weakness MAC techniques should be implemented by trained physiotherapists or respiratory therapists Air stacking combined with MAC is recommended if cough assistance is indicated and upper airways are patent in cooperative patients I/E devices are indicated if MAC/air stacking are not feasible or ineffective HFCWO is indicated if MAC/air stacking are either not feasible or ineffective and I/E cannot be tolerated
Llerena Junior et al. 2016 (30)	2-	 Aerobic and progressive resistance exercise training, incorporated into daily functional activities, with or without ERT, may improve muscle strength and functioning Orthotic devices and posture correction while the patient is in the wheelchair and support for when the patient stands may prevent joint contractures
Tarnopolsky et al. 2016 (32)	2+	• Tailored endurance exercise and progressive resistance training, with or without ERT, may improve aerobic capacity and normalize muscle strength, motor function, and lean mass

Abbreviations: ERT, enzyme replacement therapy; GRADE, Grades of Recommendation, Assessment, Development and Evaluation Working Group; HFCWO, high frequency chest wall oscillation; I/E, Insufflation/Exsufflation; MAC, manually-assisted cough.

walking distance, respiratory function and survival have been demonstrated in adult patients with LOPD (6-11). Importantly, additional treatments, such as physiotherapy or exercise training, may also benefit patients' fitness and physical functioning, however, evidence of such beneficial outcomes is limited (12, 13). Indeed, the need for guidance and standardization in the use of physiotherapy in clinical practice was highlighted in a Dutch survey of 88 patients with Pompe disease and 31 physiotherapists, which demonstrated a lack of uniformity in the type of physical therapy training programs applied (5). It has also been debated as to whether exercise is beneficial or harmful for patients with myopathic disorders (14-16). To date, only a few studies have investigated the benefits of exercise training in adult patients with Pompe disease. An uncontrolled, prospective study demonstrated that adherence to a high-protein/low-carbohydrate diet and exercise therapy slowed the progressive deterioration of muscle function in LOPD patients (12), and a combination of aerobic, resistance and core stability exercises were shown to be feasible and safe (13) and to improve pain, fatigue and functioning (17) in 23 adult patients with Pompe disease who were receiving ERT and were not dependent on ventilators and/or walking devices.

Adherence to a combination of nutrition and exercise therapy (mean 4.5 ± 2.5 years, range 2-10 years) in 34

patients (aged 25-66 years), ambulatory except for one patient, slowed deterioration of muscle function and improved the natural course of LOPD (12). Progressive worsening of muscle function was significantly slower in 26 patients who were compliant with the treatment regimen whereas progressive impairment of muscle function was reported in 8 noncompliant patients (mean difference between pre- and post-therapy Walton score was -0.29 [95% Confidence Interval (CI) -0.36, -0.19; p < 0.001] for compliant patients, and -0.01 [95% CI -0.36, 0.34; p = 0.95] for noncompliant patients) (12).

Endurance, core stability and muscle function improved following a 12-week exercise program, which included 36 sessions of standardized aerobic, resistance, and core stability exercises, in 23 adult patients (aged > 17years) with Pompe disease not dependent on ventilators and/or walking devices and receiving ERT for at least 52 weeks (13). Significant increases in aerobic exercise capacity and distance walked on the 6 minute walking test (6MWT) were demonstrated after training compared with before training (maximum workload capacity 122 vs 110 Watt; peak oxygen uptake 75.9% vs 69.4% of normal; 6MWT 508 vs 492 meters, respectively; all p < 0.01). Core stability, and muscle function and strength all improved after 12-weeks' training, with no safety issues reported. Despite being statistically significant, only modest increases were demonstrated in the 6MWT and peak workload capacity, however exercise training appears to be an effective and safe adjuvant therapy for patients with Pompe disease offering added value to treatment with ERT alone (13).

Significant reduction in fatigue (p = 0.001) and pain (p = 0.04) were also demonstrated after 12-weeks of exercise training in the same cohort, but the motor function and amount of physical activity did not change significantly after training (17). However, these clinical improvements were not correlated with changes in aerobic fitness, muscle strength or core stability.

Proposed protocols for the assessment of musculoskeletal impairments and rehabilitation – The choice of the outcome measure

Evidence supporting the role of musculoskeletal rehabilitation in patients with LOPD remains scant, mainly because it is based on small studies with short followup, conducted in a home-based setting. It is therefore difficult to define a standardized protocol for the assessment of motor function for application in the Italian scenario. One of the main related issues, that has to be considered, is the choice of the best clinic-instrumental parameters that are selected as trusted indices to be used to evaluate the efficacy of the motor rehabilitative intervention. However, according to the study conducted in 2015 by Van der Berg and colleagues (13), assessment of motor function should include the following outcome measurements:

Endurance: Aerobic exercise capacity was assessed using an incremental cycle ergometer with progressive increase in exercise intensity until exhaustion (the stepwise load increment was based on the patient's functional capacities within a range of 5-20 Watts/minute), and continuous measurement of patients' heart rates and ventilator parameters using spiroergometry. At exhaustion, the Borg scale (18) evaluated exertional symptoms (scale of 6-20). Measurements of maximum workload capacity and peak oxygen uptake capacity were undertaken, and the ventilatory threshold was assessed using the ventilatory equivalents method (19). Walking distance on the 6MWT was evaluated according to the American Thoracic Society guidelines (20).

<u>Muscle strength</u>: Although muscle force is considered a muscle function parameter with limited relevance in the evaluation of motor performance in myopathic patients, there is no doubt that it can represent a useful index for the construction of motor rehabilitative planning. Maximal voluntary contraction, i.e. maximal isometric segmental muscle strength, the most accepted measurement in exercise laboratories, was measured using a hand-held dynamometry and considered as an index of residual muscle function.

<u>Muscle Function</u>: Muscle function assessment comprised three timed tests (10 meter running, climbing four steps, and rising from supine to standing position), plus the Quick Motor Function Test (QMFT) (21). The QMFT was designed specifically for and validated in patients with Pompe disease, and consists of 16 specific motor skills related to daily activities scored on a 5-point scale (0 "cannot perform" to 4 "can perform with no effort"); a total score, expressed as a percentage of the maximum score, is obtained by adding the scores of all items.

The Rasch-built Pompe-specific Activity (R-PAct) scale was validated to specifically quantify the effects of Pompe disease on patient's ability in activities of daily life and social participation (22). This 18-item scale demonstrated good discriminative ability and external construct validity. Furthermore this assessment tool was recently used in a 5-year prospective study, which aimed to evaluate the long-term benefit of ERT in 102 adult patients with Pompe disease (23).

In addition, an assessment of how musculoskeletal impairments and rehabilitation affect quality of life (QoL) should be undertaken. The Individualized Neuromuscular Quality of Life (INQoL) questionnaire (24), which consists of 45 questions within 10 sections, was designed specifically for NMD and validated for the Italian population (25).

The above assessment methods are in line with guidelines on the diagnosis and management of patients with Pompe disease issued in 2006 by the American College of Medical Genetics (ACMG) (3). Musculoskeletal functional rehabilitation recommendations from the ACMG include: monitoring of cardiorespiratory status; screening for osteopenia/osteoporosis; assessment of musculoskeletal impairments, functional deficits, levels of disability and social participation; enhancement of muscle function; prevention of secondary musculoskeletal impairments; functioning optimization with adaptation and assistive technology; patient and family education about the natural course of Pompe disease and recommendations for intervention (3). With regards to the enhancement of muscle function, the ACMG recommended that guidelines from other progressive muscle diseases were to be followed, including: sub-maximal, functional and aerobic exercise; avoidance of excessive resistive and eccentric exercise; avoidance of overwork weakness; and avoidance of disuse atrophy (3).

The proposal for an International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF)-based approach (3), although dated now back to 2006, offers an internationally agreed standard for describing and monitoring functioning, has been endorsed by the World Health Organization, and offers a framework for the identification of the categories of functional damage, structural damage, and limitation of activities of daily living (ADL) and of social participation. In Italy, according to the 2013 national health plan, the ICF has become mandatory to allow access to both physiotherapy and aids. It is therefore important to publish data based on an ICF checklist of items, which recognizes issues specifically related to people affected by LOPD.

The choice of the protocol

In 2012, the American Association of Neuromuscular & Electrodiagnostic Medicine (AANEM) convened a consensus committee to create consensus-based treatment and management recommendations for the treatment of LOPD (26). Participants clarified that overall management of musculoskeletal issues in LOPD patients should preserve motor function, prevent secondary complications, maximize benefits of ERT, promote overall health, and improve QoL. Importantly, the AANEM recognized that there were no established guidelines for muscle strengthening or therapeutic exercise for patients with LOPD (26). Although a small number of studies have shown that sub-maximal aerobic exercise may increase muscle function and strength, further studies with larger sample sizes are needed. Moreover, the AANEM recommended the implementation of general precautions regarding strengthening exercises, that are followed for other degenerative muscle diseases, also be applied to

LOPD (26). Furthermore, due to the risk of cardiopulmonary compromise in LOPD, it was recommended that LOPD patients were evaluated by a pulmonologist prior to starting an exercise regimen (26).

The frequency and intensity of treatments, from a functional and rehabilitative point of view, was also addressed by the AANEM. It was recommended that therapeutic exercise should start slowly with incremental increases from mild to moderate intensity in order to achieve aerobic levels approximately 60-70% of maximal effort; rest periods should be allowed for and the patients should aim for a frequency of 3-5 treatment days per week (26). A stretching regimen, performed as part of the daily routine, should be implemented.

Patients with Pompe disease may be affected by low bone mineral density (BMD), putting them at risk of fragility fractures. Indeed, 31 out of 46 patients (67%) had BMD Z-score < -1 SD, with the decrease in bone density present in both the infantile and late-onset forms of Pompe disease (27). Moreover, low BMD was correlated with decreased proximal muscle strength. A recent study also identified an increased risk of asymptomatic and atraumatic vertebral fractures in patients with LOPD walking without assistance and not ventilated, who did not have a significant impairment of bone mass (28). The AANEM recommended that patients with LOPD undergo annual screening with dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) and fall risk assessment (26).

In 2012, clinical guidelines for LOPD published by the Spanish Society of Internal Medicine, Spanish Society of Neurology, and the Spanish Society of Pneumology and Thoracic Surgery, concluded that nutritional intervention and aerobic exercise can improve motor function in patients with LOPD, albeit with a low level of evidence (29).

More recently, the 2016 Brazilian guidelines for the diagnosis, treatment and clinical monitoring of patients with juvenile and adult Pompe disease were based on the ICF criteria (30). Recommendations for the management of the musculoskeletal impairments in Pompe disease, included: enrolling the patient in the International Pompe Registry; physical examination; physical/occupational therapy; management of contractures; vitamins and minerals supplementation (30).

Other groups have addressed the issue of motor rehabilitation in LOPD. The 208th European Neuromuscular Centre international workshop agreed on a minimal dataset of outcome measures for adult patients with Pompe disease (31). These included; muscle strength (manual muscle testing using the Medical Research Council grading scale, hand-held dynamometry, quantitative muscle testing), muscle function (6MWT, four timed tests including walking 10 meters, climbing four steps, standing up from the supine position, and standing up from a chair), pulmonary function (forced vital capacity [FVC] standing and sitting, maximal inspiratory pressure [MIP], maximal expiratory pressure [MEP], ventilation status), patient reported outcomes (Rasch-built Pompe-specific activity scale, fatigue severity scale), and other information (treatment and survival status) (31). It was envisaged that the minimal dataset will allow for data sharing purposes in order to address specific research questions.

Evidence-based guidelines on the diagnosis and management of Pompe disease from a Canadian expert panel identified seven management guidelines and made six recommendations (based on best clinical practices but with insufficient data to draw guidelines) (32). Recommendations related to the assessment of musculoskeletal impairments and rehabilitation included the following two statements: "Patients with LOPD should be encouraged to perform both resistance and cardiovascular exercise to improve general conditioning and quality of life. Interventions should be tailored to individual abilities" and, "Periodic quality of life assessments and/or motor function tests, which can include questionnaires, should be part of the routine management of patients with LOPD" (32).

Rehabilitation of respiratory function in LOPD: state of the art

In LOPD, morbidity and mortality due to progressive respiratory muscle weakness are a major concern and management of respiratory function should include a multidisciplinary approach of neurologists, pulmonologists, and intensive care specialists (1). Clinical presentation of respiratory muscle function impairments in LOPD patients includes restrictive ventilation (hypo-expanding thorax), ineffective cough, alteration of blood gases (from hypoventilation), impaired respiratory muscle strength, alteration of the respiratory pattern (relationship between respiratory rate and current volume), alteration of sleep pattern, and dyspnea in ADL.

The choice of the outcome measure

International guidelines for the management of respiratory function in LOPD patients are well-grounded and defined, and indicate, among other recommendations, essential respiratory function tests to be performed from the onset of the disease to advanced phases (1), including: pulmonary function tests, peak cough flow (PCF), strength of the respiratory muscles, competence of the glottis in the cough, measurement of oxygen saturation (SaO₂) at night, blood gas analysis, and transcutaneous monitoring of paO₂ and paCO₂ (Table 3). These evaluations must be performed initially and repeated over time. Other aspects to be investigated concern stress tolerance, including: incremental tests (with evaluation of desaturation and level of dyspnea); endurance tests (on a treadmill, with evaluation of desaturation and level of dyspnea); study of sleep quality (through standardized scales); 6MWT (with evaluation of desaturation and level of dyspnea); and, evaluation of ADL (from the point of view of both motor and respiratory function).

The pulsed arterial saturation and day time are important to diagnose the development of respiratory failure and to define the timing of the initiation of mechanical ventilation (33). Furthermore, the measurement of oxyhemoglobin saturation is a useful and non-invasive element for monitoring the presence of catarrhal space over time (1).

It is crucial that respiratory function is measured over time since the evolution of respiratory symptoms is highly variable, as demonstrated by a study of 16 untreated patients with LOPD in which only one third of patients presented a rapid respiratory decline over a mean followup of 16 years (34). Depending on the rate of disease progression, the authors recommended regular monitoring of LOPD patients every 6-12 months. Consequently, the need to repeat tests of respiratory function over time is extremely variable between patients, which contribute to the heterogeneity of existing approaches in the management of Pompe disease, as confirmed by the results of two surveys recently conducted in Italy (35, 36).

The choice of the protocol

Patients should undergo regular evaluation by a pulmonologist who should initiate respiratory aids as needed so that potentially catastrophic situations during acute chest colds can be avoided (37, 38). Indeed, early diagnosis, aggressive treatment and close follow-up after an acute event are imperative to avoid further deterioration towards acute respiratory failure and hospitalization (1).

Dedicated approaches to pulmonologists' intervention in the management of LOPD have been published by Italian researchers (37). The cornerstones of the respiratory rehabilitative intervention are represented by the treatment of nocturnal hypoventilation and the management of secretions (39). Bronchial disruption must be suggested for preventive purposes and becomes imperative in cases where there is a catarrhal obstruction, which can be detected by auscultation and by clinical signs and symptoms. The main objectives of this therapy are to promote airway clearance, the prevention and treatment of respiratory atelectasis and infections, and the maintenance of a normal ventilation/perfusion ratio. These peripheral disruption interventions act with the purpose of

Table 3. Essential respiratory function tests for the management of respiratory function in patients with late-onset Pompe disease.

Respiratory function test	Description
Pulmonary function tests	Slow vital capacity and FVC both in a sitting and supine position where a restrictive ven- tilator pattern is usually diagnosed [vital capacity values < 50% predicted (49)] or inspir- atory vital capacity values [< 60% predictive of sleep-disordered breathing and < 40% predictive of sleep-related hypoventilation (50, 51)] (1)
Peak cough flow	Measurement of air flow generated during the cough evaluates the effectiveness of the mechanism of cough [a value < 160 L/min reflects inadequate airway clearance (48)]
Strength of the respiratory muscles	MIP, MEP, and sniff nasal inspiratory pressure are indicators of diaphragm weakness and are therefore indications for NIV or poor ability to generate cough (1)
Competence of the glottis in the cough	Calculated using the passive maximum intake inspiratory capacity, which is the maximum capacity of the lung to be passively inflated through air boluses delivered by a fan or an Ambu flask (1)
Measurement of SaO ₂ at night	Measurement of SaO_2 at night using cardiorespiratory monitoring or polysomnography. Sleep studies are useful to monitor nocturnal hypoventilation (and therefore the need for NIV) by measurement of nocturnal oximetry, use of a CO_2 transdermal tension meter as well as a complete sleep study using polysomnography (1)
Blood gas analysis	Measurement of oxygen and carbon dioxide levels in an arterial blood sample to monitor the adequacy of oxygenation and ventilation. This is the 'gold standard' for the assessment of hypoventilation
Transcutaneous monitoring of paO_2 and $paCO_2$	Provides information on both the CO_2 status and O_2 delivery to the tissues

Abbreviations: FVC, forced vital capacity; MEP, maximal expiratory pressure; MIP, maximal inspiratory pressure; NIV, non-invasive ventilation; paCO2, partial pressure of carbon dioxide; paO2, partial pressure of oxygen; SaO2, oxygen saturation.

increasing the air flow at the peripheral level and with it promote the recovery of secretions in the upper airways ("Flutter" PEP Mask, autogenous drainage, ELTGOL [total slow expiration, performed at glottis open and in lateral decubitus]).

Cough assistance becomes necessary when PCF values below 270 L/min are reached, and techniques used include manually assisted coughing, air stacking, insufflation/exsufflation, and high frequency chest wall oscillation (1). Selective assistance to the inspiratory phase can be obtained by means of hyperinsufflation (air stacking with fan or an Ambu flask), selective expiratory assistance by manual compression of the rib cage and abdomen (abdominal thrust), and global cough assistance with air-stacking plus abdominal thrust or a specific instrument called an in-exsufflator, which acts by delivering, in rapid succession, a positive pressure of insufflation and a negative expiratory pressure.

Mechanical ventilation is achieved using either noninvasive ventilation (NIV) or invasive ventilation. The indications of the guidelines for NIV are less conservative than in the past, with the intent of recruiting patients earlier to encourage gradual adaptation to these procedures (1). Patients who develop hypercapnic acute respiratory failure should be referred to a specialized center for assessment of long term mechanical ventilation. NIV increases survival, prevents nocturnal hypoventilation, improves nighttime saturation, sleep-related respiratory disorders, and gas exchange, improves QoL, avoids or postpones tracheotomy, and relieves symptoms (40, 41).

Home mechanical ventilation is to be considered when the patient has daytime hypercapnia (pa- $CO_2 > 45$ mmHg) or orthopnea or symptoms of nocturnal hypoventilation (morning headache, daytime hypersomnolence, disturbed sleep with frequent awakenings) in association with at least one of the following symptoms: vital capacity < 50% of theoretical, MIP/MEP < 60% of theoretical, nocturnal oxygen desaturation (SaO₂ < 88% for more than 5 consecutive minutes), and close exacerbations (1).

Published evidence supports the effectiveness of respiratory muscle training in increasing MIP (42, 43) and improving the strength of both inspiratory and expiratory muscles (the latter being important for the cough function) (44). Inspiratory muscle training for 8-weeks was shown to have a significant (p = 0.01 vs baseline) positive effect on MIP in 8 patients with LOPD who were receiving ERT (42). This finding was confirmed in 8 patients with LOPD treated with ERT who completed 24 months of respiratory muscle training and showed significant increases in MIP over a period of 24 months (p < 0.05 at 3, 6, 9, 12, and 24 months *vs* baseline) (43). Evaluation of MEP over the 24-month treatment period also demonstrated significant increases in MEP from baseline at 3, 6, and 9 months Giovanni Iolascon et al

Table 4. Outcome measures for respiratory function assessment in patients with late-onset Pompe disease base	d on
disease stage. Reproduced with permission from Ambrosino et al. (37).	

apacity (% expected) and respiratory muscle strength tests apacity (% predicted) and respiratory muscle strength tests al assistance)
apacity (% predicted) and respiratory muscle strength tests al assistance)
d duration of pulmonary infections (bronchopneumonia epi- diologic examination) juire antibiotics
d duration of pulmonary infections and bronchoaspirations) sistance (from controlled to assisted) ctivities after MV

Abbreviations: CPEF, cough peak expiratory flow; MEP, maximal expiratory pressure; MIP, maximal inspiratory pressure; MV, mechanical ventilation.

(all p < 0.05) but not at 12 and 24 months; FVC remained stable throughout the study period (43). In addition, Jones et al. showed improved inspiratory and expiratory muscle strength in 8 adults with LOPD receiving ERT following a 12-week respiratory muscle training program, with positive changes largely persistent after 3-months detraining (44). The authors concluded that respiratory muscle training offers a potential adjunctive treatment for respiratory weakness in patients with LOPD.

However, a survey on attitudes and practices in Italy for the management of NMD found that rehabilitative approaches used in clinical practice include mainly mechanical ventilation (96.5%) and bronchial disruption (84.2%), while respiratory muscle training was used in only 36.6% of cases (36).

Ambrosino and colleagues divided the possible outcome measures for patients with LOPD into three groups based on the level of progression and disease severity (Table 4) (37). This is a clinical-functional classification, and it would be of interest to link with the ICF criteria. Studies on the use of ERT in LOPD use FVC, MEP and MIP as the main outcome measures (6, 7, 10, 11, 45, 46), however these endpoints are characterized by high variability, which reduces the reliability of such spirometric data. An alternative endpoint can be represented by the number of hours of mechanical ventilation required (47).

Lastly, considerations on the palliative setting should be performed, which are in line with position papers referring to the Italian setting (35, 39). For end-stage LOPD patients, the wishes of the patient should be respected, decisions must be based on a shared process, and medical treatment must be proportionate; if the patient chooses to not use mechanical ventilation, they must receive adequate palliative care.

Unmet needs in the rehabilitation of LOPD patients and future perspectives

On the bases of the criticisms discussed in the first paper produced by this multidisciplinary group, a number of unmet needs have been identified in the rehabilitation of motor and respiratory function of LOPD patients (Table 5).

The next step of the working group will be to investigate which functioning categories, according to the ICF, are most impaired in patients with LOPD, and to propose a practical approach to address specific management strategies, including physical activity, therapeutic exercise programs for global and specific motor function impairments, patients' education for healthy lifestyle, enhancement strategies to improve social participation, and QoL.

Acknowledgements

Carmelo Chisari has received reimbursements for participation in advisory boards and for educational activities from Sanofi Genzyme and Merz Italy.

Table	5.	Unmet	needs i	n the	rehabilitation	of motor	and	respiratory	y function	of LOPD	patients.
-------	----	-------	---------	-------	----------------	----------	-----	-------------	------------	---------	-----------

Unmet needs

Lack of definitions for adapted physical activity

Clinical and functional heterogeneity of LOPD patients

Poor identification of patients to whom protocols can be applied

Lack of guidelines based on well-grounded evidence

Poor identification of impairment and disability, also according to ICF classification

Lack of consensus on outcomes for clinical studies

Lack of different protocols for different clusters of patients

Modification of rehabilitation procedures on the basis of ERT

Evaluation of the influence of nutrition/supplementation on rehabilitation outcomes

Evaluation of the influence of the severity of pulmonary function impairment on rehabilitation programs for motor impairments

Lack of evidence on the safety of the specific rehabilitation procedures during the course of LOPD

Lack of definition of the rehabilitation approach according to current regulations – for instance, in Italy and in many European countries, ICF classification is required

Abbreviations: ERT, enzyme replacement therapy; ICF, International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health; LOPD, lateonset Pompe disease.

Tiziana Enrica Giovanna Mongini has received reimbursements for participation in advisory boards from Sanofi Genzyme.

Antonio Toscano has received reimbursements for participation in advisory boards and for speaking at congresses from Sanofi Genzyme, Amicus and CSL Behring.

Gabriele Siciliano has received honoraria for lecturing from CSL Behring and Sanofi Genzyme and travel grants from Grifols, Sanofi Genzyme and CSL Behring.

Giovanni Iolascon, Michele Vitacca, Elena Carraro, Pietro Fiore, Sonia Messina, and Valeria A. Sansone declare no conflicts of interest.

This project was realized with the unconditional support provided by Sanofi Genzyme Italy.

Medical writing was performed by Luca Giacomelli, PhD, and Melanie Gatt, PhD, independent medical writers, on behalf of Springer Healthcare.

Coordinator: First Class S.r.l. Meetings and Conferences.

References

- Boentert M, Prigent H, Vardi K, et al. Practical Recommendations for Diagnosis and Management of Respiratory Muscle Weakness in Late-Onset Pompe Disease. Int J Mol Sci 2016;17:E1735.
- Morales JA, Bhimji SS. Glycogen Storage Disease, Type II (Pompe Disease). StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing LLC 2017.
- Kishnani PS, Steiner RD, Bali D, et al. Pompe disease diagnosis and management guideline. Genet Med 2006;8:267-88.
- van der Ploeg AT, Reuser AJ. Pompe's disease. Lancet 2008;372:1342-53.

- Favejee MM, Huisstede BM, Bussmann JB, et al. Physiotherapy management in late-onset Pompe disease: clinical practice in 88 patients. Mol Genet Metab 2012;107:111-5.
- Angelini C, Semplicini C, Ravaglia S, et al. Observational clinical study in juvenile-adult glycogenosis type 2 patients undergoing enzyme replacement therapy for up to 4 years. J Neurol 2012;259:952-8.
- de Vries JM, van der Beek NA, Hop WC, et al. Effect of enzyme therapy and prognostic factors in 69 adults with Pompe disease: an open-label single-center study. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2012;7:73.
- Gungor D, Kruijshaar ME, Plug I, et al. Impact of enzyme replacement therapy on survival in adults with Pompe disease: results from a prospective international observational study. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2013;8:49.
- Schoser B, Stewart A, Kanters S, et al. Survival and long-term outcomes in late-onset Pompe disease following alglucosidase alfa treatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Neurol 2017;264:621-30.
- Toscano A, Schoser B. Enzyme replacement therapy in lateonset Pompe disease: a systematic literature review. J Neurol 2013;260:951-9.
- van der Ploeg AT, Clemens PR, Corzo D, et al. A randomized study of alglucosidase alfa in late-onset Pompe's disease. N Engl J Med 2010;362:1396-406.
- Slonim AE, Bulone L, Goldberg T, et al. Modification of the natural history of adult-onset acid maltase deficiency by nutrition and exercise therapy. Muscle Nerve 2007;35:70-7.
- 13. van den Berg LE, Favejee MM, Wens SC, et al. Safety and efficacy of exercise training in adults with Pompe disease: evalution of endurance, muscle strength and core stability before and after a 12 week training program. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2015;10:87.

- Baldanzi S, Ricci G, Bottari M, et al. The proposal of a clinical protocol to assess central and peripheral fatigue in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Arch Ital Biol 2017;155:43-53.
- Ricci G, Bertolucci F, Logerfo A, et al. A multi-parametric protocol to study exercise intolerance in McArdle's disease. Acta Myol 2015;34:120-5.
- Ricci G, Simoncini C, Baldanzi S, et al. Opportunities and potential applications from healthcare technologies to assist motor activity in metabolic myopathies. Bio Eng Med 2018;3:1-4.
- Favejee MM, van den Berg LE, Kruijshaar ME, et al. Exercise training in adults with Pompe disease: the effects on pain, fatigue, and functioning. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2015;96:817-22.
- Borg G. Perceived exertion as an indicator of somatic stress. Scand J Rehabil Med 1970;2:92-8.
- Wasserman K, Hansen JE, Sue DY, et al. Measurements during integrative cardiopulmonary exercise testing. In: Weinberg R, ed. Principles of exercise testing. Baltimore: Lippincott, Williams and Wilkins 1999, pp. 62-94.
- Crescimanno G, Modica R, Lo Mauro R, et al. Role of the cardiopulmonary exercise test and six-minute walking test in the evaluation of exercise performance in patients with late-onset Pompe disease. Neuromuscul Disord 2015;25:542-7.
- van Capelle CI, van der Beek NA, de Vries JM, et al. The quick motor function test: a new tool to rate clinical severity and motor function in Pompe patients. J Inherit Metab Dis 2012;35:317-23.
- van der Beek NA, Hagemans ML, van der Ploeg AT, et al. The Rasch-built Pompe-specific activity (R-PAct) scale. Neuromuscul Disord 2013;23:256-64.
- Kuperus E, Kruijshaar ME, Wens SCA, et al. Long-term benefit of enzyme replacement therapy in Pompe disease: a 5-year prospective study. Neurology 2017;89:2365-73.
- Vincent KA, Carr AJ, Walburn J, et al. Construction and validation of a quality of life questionnaire for neuromuscular disease (IN-QoL). Neurology 2007;68:1051-7.
- Sansone VA, Panzeri M, Montanari M, et al. Italian validation of INQoL, a quality of life questionnaire for adults with muscle diseases. Eur J Neurol 2010;17:1178-87.
- Cupler EJ, Berger KI, Leshner RT, et al. Consensus treatment recommendations for late-onset Pompe disease. Muscle Nerve 2012;45:319-33.
- van den Berg LE, Zandbergen AA, van Capelle CI, et al. Low bone mass in Pompe disease: muscular strength as a predictor of bone mineral density. Bone 2010;47:643-9.
- Bertoldo F, Zappini F, Brigo M, et al. Prevalence of asymptomatic vertebral fractures in late-onset Pompe disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015;100:401-6.
- Barba-Romero MA, Barrot E, Bautista-Lorite J, et al. Clinical guidelines for late-onset Pompe disease. Rev Neurol 2012;54:497-507.

- Llerena Junior JC, Nascimento OJ, Oliveira AS, et al. Guidelines for the diagnosis, treatment and clinical monitoring of patients with juvenile and adult Pompe disease. Arq Neuropsiquiatr 2016;74:166-76.
- Schoser B, Laforet P, Kruijshaar ME, et al. 208th ENMC International Workshop: formation of a European Network to develop a European data sharing model and treatment guidelines for Pompe disease Naarden, The Netherlands, 26-28 September 2014. Neuromuscul Disord 2015;25:674-8.
- Tarnopolsky M, Katzberg H, Petrof BJ, et al. Pompe disease: diagnosis and management. Evidence-Based Guidelines from a Canadian Expert Panel. Can J Neurol Sci 2016;43:472-85.
- Bach JR. Respiratory considerations. In: Bach JR, ed. Guide to the evaluation and management of neuromuscular disease. Philadelphia: Hanley and Belfus 1999, pp. 67-87.
- Van der Beek NA, Hagemans ML, Reuser AJ, et al. Rate of disease progression during long-term follow-up of patients with late-onset Pompe disease. Neuromuscul Disord 2009;19:113-7.
- 35. Vitacca M, Ambrosino N, Nava S, et al. Cure palliative dei pazienti con patologie respiratorie croniche avanzate non oncologiche. Position paper. Associazione Italiana Pneumologi Ospedalieri (AIPO). 2011 (Available from: http://www.aiponet.it/images/prodotti-editoriali/documenti-scientifici/allegati/8/1.pdf. Accessed 5 February 2018).
- 36. Vitacca M, Vianello A; Scientific Group on Respiratory Intensive Care of the Italian Association of Hospital P. Respiratory outcomes of patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: an Italian nationwide survey. Respir Care 2013;58:1433-41.
- Ambrosino N, Confalonieri M, Crescimanno G, et al. The role of respiratory management of Pompe disease. Respir Med 2013;107:1124-32.
- Mellies U, Lofaso F. Pompe disease: a neuromuscular disease with respiratory muscle involvement. Respir Med 2009;103:477-84.
- Vitacca M, Grandi M, Sturani C, et al. Monitoring and care of neuromuscular and motoneuron diseases in respiratory setting: position paper by Sezione Regionale AIPO Lombardia. Rassegna di Patologia dell'Apparato Respiratorio 2009;24:64-9.
- Hill NS, Liesching T, Kwok H. Indications for non-invasive ventilation, Mechanical Ventilation. In: Slutsky AS, Brochard L, eds. Update in intensive care medicine. Berlin: Springer 2004.
- Shneerson JM, Simonds AK. Noninvasive ventilation for chest wall and neuromuscular disorders. Eur Respir J 2002;20:480-7.
- Aslan GK, Huseyinsinoglu BE, Oflazer P, et al. Inspiratory muscle training in late-onset pompe disease: the effects on pulmonary function tests, quality of life, and sleep quality. Lung 2016;194:555-61.
- 43. Jevnikar M, Kodric M, Cantarutti F, et al. Respiratory muscle training with enzyme replacement therapy improves muscle strength in late - onset Pompe disease. Mol Genet Metab Rep 2015;5:67-71.
- Jones HN, Crisp KD, Robey RR, et al. Respiratory muscle training (RMT) in late-onset Pompe disease (LOPD): effects of training and detraining. Mol Genet Metab 2016;117:120-8.

- Hundsberger T, Rosler KM, Findling O. Cessation and resuming of alglucosidase alfa in Pompe disease: a retrospective analysis. J Neurol 2014;261:1684-90.
- van der Ploeg AT, Barohn R, Carlson L, et al. Open-label extension study following the Late-Onset Treatment Study (LOTS) of alglucosidase alfa. Mol Genet Metab 2012;107:456-61.
- Vianello A, Semplicini C, Paladini L, et al. Enzyme replacement therapy improves respiratory outcomes in patients with lateonset type II glycogenosis and high ventilator dependency. Lung 2013;191:537-44.
- 48. Bach JR, Saporito LR. Criteria for extubation and tracheostomy

tube removal for patients with ventilatory failure. A different approach to weaning. Chest 1996;110:1566-71.

- Baydur A, Adkins RH, Milic-Emili J. Lung mechanics in individuals with spinal cord injury: effects of injury level and posture. J Appl Physiol (Bethesda, Md : 1985) 2001;90:405-11.
- Mellies U, Ragette R, Schwake C, et al. Sleep-disordered breathing and respiratory failure in acid maltase deficiency. Neurology 2001;57:1290-5.
- Ragette R, Mellies U, Schwake C, et al. Patterns and predictors of sleep disordered breathing in primary myopathies. Thorax 2002;57:724-8.

Metabolic impairments in patients with myotonic dystrophy type 2

MILORAD VUJNIC¹, STOJAN PERIC², ZELJKA CALIC³, NATASA BENOVIC², TANJA NISIC⁴, JOVAN PESOVIC⁵, DUSANKA SAVIC-PAVICEVIC⁵ AND VIDOSAVA RAKOCEVIC-STOJANOVIC²

¹ Faculty of Medicine, University of Banja Luka, Banja Luka, Republic of Srpska, Bosnia and Herzegovina; ² Neurology Clinic, Clinical Center of Serbia, Faculty of Medicine, University of Belgrade, Serbia; ³ Department of Neurophysiology, Liverpool Hospital, Liverpool, NSW, Australia; ⁴ Endocrinology Clinic, Clinical Center of Serbia, Faculty of Medicine, University of Belgrade, Serbia; ⁵ Center for Human Genetics, Faculty of Biology, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Objectives: metabolic syndrome (MetS) increases risk of cardiovascular diseases and diabetes mellitus type 2. Aim of this study was to investigate frequency and features of MetS in a large cohort of patients with DM2.

Materials & methods: this cross-sectional study included 47 DM2 patients. Patients were matched with 94 healthy controls (HCs) for gender and age. MetS was diagnosed according to the new worldwide consensus criteria from 2009.

Results: mean age of DM2 patients was 52 ± 11 years, 15 (32%) were males, and mean disease duration was 15 ± 14 years. MetS was present in 53% of DM2 patients and 46% of HCs (p > 0.05). All components of the MetS appeared with the similar frequency in DM2 and HCs, respectively: hypertension 64 vs 52%, central obesity 62 vs 74%, hypertriglyceridemia 49 vs 39%, hyperglycemia 42 vs 33% and low HDL cholesterol 30 vs 42% (p > 0.05). DM2 patients were more commonly on lipid lowering therapy compared to HCs (12 vs 3%, p = 0.05). Fifteen (32%) patients with DM2 and only one (1%) subject from control group had diabetes mellitus (p < 0.01). Insulin resistance was found in thirty (65%) patients with DM2. Presence of MetS was not associated with patient's gender, age, severity nor duration of the disease (p > 0.05).

Conclusions: more than half of DM2 subjects met the criteria for the MetS. We suppose that treatment of metabolic disturbances may reduce cardiovascular complications and improve quality of life in patients with DM2, which is progressive and still incurable disorder.

Key words: myotonic dystrophy type 2, metabolic syndrome, obesity

Introduction

Myotonic dystrophy type 2 (DM2) is an autosomal dominant, slowly progressive, multi-systemic disease,

caused by CCTG repeat expansion in intron 1 of the *CN-BP* gene that codes protein called CCHC-type zinc finger nucleic acid binding protein (1). Metabolic syndrome (MetS) is a cluster of metabolic and hemodynamic disturbances that appear together, and multiply risk of cardiovascular diseases and diabetes mellitus type 2 (2).

Patients with neuromuscular diseases (NMD) have a higher frequency of cardiovascular and metabolic impairments in comparison to general population, which is probably caused by muscle weakness, fatique and reduced mobility (3, 4). MetS was found in 55% of 11 patients with different slowly progressive NMD, and all components of MetS were more frequent in NMD patients in comparison to healty controls (HCs) (3). Also, total energy expenditure was significantly lower in patient group.

We have previosly reported a high frequency of metabolic disorders in myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1), but only 17% of these patients fulfilled criteria for the diagnosis of MetS (5). Nevertheless, in the study by Shieh et al. different MetS criteria were applied and frequency of MetS in DM1 was 41% (6).

There are no studies that specifically examined frequency of MetS in DM2 patients. It seems that DM2 patients have more severe metabolic impairments compared to DM1 (1,7). Some authors suggested that diabetes mellitus type 2 and arterial hypertension are more frequent in DM2 than in DM1 (8, 9). Also, hypertrygliceridemia and hypercholesterolemia are probably more common in DM2 than in DM1 (7). There are even some sugesstions that DM2 patients, unlike DM1 patients, may frequently have atherosclerosis and coronary heart disease (1).

Address for correspondence: Vidosava Rakocevic-Stojanovic, Neurology Clinic, Clinical Center of Serbia, University of Belgrade 6, Dr Subotica 11 000 Belgrade, Serbia. Tel. +381 66 8301258. Fax +381 11 2684577. E-mail: vidosava_r@yahoo.co.uk

Aim of this study was to investigate frequency and features of the MetS in a large cohort of patients with DM2.

Methods

Forty seven DM2 patients (mean age 51.9 ± 11.1 years, 31.9% males) were recruited consecutively from the Outpatient and Inpatient Units of the Neurology Clinic, Clinical Centre of Serbia, University of Belgrade, from January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015. All patients had multi-systemic features of DM2 and no other comorbidities. DM2 patients were matched for gender and age with 94 HCs (mean age 51.9 ± 11.1 years, 31.9% males). Control group comprised of patients' healthy family members and staff of the Neurology Clinic, Clinical Centre of Serbia, University of Belgrade. Study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the School of Medicine, University of Belgrade, and written informed consent was obtained from all subjects participating in the study.

Clinical and electrophysiological diagnosis of DM2 was confirmed by standard PCR and repeat primed-PCR assessing the presence of increased CCTG repeats in the CNBP gene (10). Severity of muscle weakness was assessed by the Medical Research Council scale, ranging from 0 to 5 (0 = no muscle contraction, 5 = normal muscle strenght) (11). Manual muscle testing of all patients was performed by two neurologists (V.R.S. and S.P.). Following muscles were tested bilaterally: shoulder abductors and adductors, elbow flexors and extensors, wrist flexors and extensors, finger flexors and extensors, thumb opponens, hip flexors, extensors, abductors and adductors, knee flexors and extensors, ankle plantar and dorsal flexors. We added strength of the weakest muscle of the proximal and distal muscle groups of upper and lower limbs with maximum score being 20 (12).

MetS was defined according to the joint statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention, the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, the American Heart Association, the World Heart Organization (WHO), the International Atherosclerosis Society, and the International Association for the Study of Obesity (13). MetS was diagnosed when at least three of five criteria were present:

- increased waist circumference (≥ 94 cm for men and ≥ 80 cm for women);
- increased serum triglyceride level (≥ 1.7 mmol/L) or use of lipid lowering agents;
- reduced serum level of high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol (<1.0 mmol/L for men and <1.3 mmol/L for women);
- elevated blood pressure (≥ systolic 130 mmHg and/or diastolic ≥ 85 mmHg), diagnosis of hypertension, or use of antihypertensive drugs;

5. increased serum fasting glucose level (\geq 5.6 mmol/L) or use of antidiabetic drugs.

Fasting serum levels of total, HDL and LDL cholesterol, as well as of triglycerides and glucose, were measured by standard laboratory methods. Fasting plasma insulin concentration was measured using radioimmunoassay (RIA), and normal values according to our laboratory are 5-25 mIU/L. HOMA (Homeostatis Model Assessment) index of insulin resistance (IR) was calculated according to the following formula: glycemia (mmol/L) x insulin (mU/L)/22.5 (14). IR was defined if HOMA index was higher than 2.6 (15).

Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight divided by squared height (kg/m²). Nutritional status was assessed using the WHO guidelines: underweighted if BMI < 18.5 kg/m², well nourished if BMI 18.5-25.0 kg/m², overweighted if BMI 25-30 kg/m², and obese if BMI > 30 kg/m² (16).

Normality of data was tested by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. For comparison between two groups (DM2 patients vs HCs and DM2 patients with certain metabolic impairment vs DM2 patients without certain metabolic impairment), chi-square test, Mann-Whitney U-test, and Student t-test were used. In all statistical analyses, significant testing was two-sided, with p level set up at 0.05 (statistically significant) and 0.01 (highly statistically significant).

Results

A total number of 47 DM2 patients were included (Table 1). MetS was present in 25 (53.2%) DM2 patients and 43 (45.7%) HCs (p > 0.05). Mean number of MetS components was similar in both groups (2.4 ± 1.4 vs 2.4 ± 1.3; p > 0.05). Frequency of the individual components of MetS is shown in Figure 1, while metabolic and

Table 1. Sociodemographic and clinical data of DM2 patients (n = 47).

Sociodemographic and clinical	DM2 patients
data	Dini patiente
Gender (% males)	31.9
Age (x ± SD, years)	51.9 ± 11.1
Education ($x \pm SD$, years)	11.3 ± 3.1
Age at onset ($x \pm SD$, years)	37.2 ± 11.1
Disease duration ($x \pm SD$, years)	15.0 ± 13.7
Muscle weakness (MRC)	
upper limb - proximal	4.3 ± 0.6
upper limb - distal	4.4 ± 0.7
lower limb - proximal	3.9 ± 0.7
lower limb - distal	4.5 ± 0.7
total	17.0 ± 2.1

x: mean value; SD: standard deviation; MRC: Medical Research Council.



Figure 1. Frequency of MetS and its components in DM2 patients (n = 47) and HCs (n = 94).

hemodynamic parameters are presented in Table 2. Arterial hypertension was present in 63.8% of DM2 patients and 52.1% of HCs (p > 0.05). Visceral obesity was present in 61.7% of DM2 patients and 74.5% of HCs (p > 0.05). Mean BMI in DM2 patients was 25.2 ± 3.6 kg/m²: 15% were undernourished, 51% of them were well-nourished, 27% were overweighted, and 7% obese.

Hypertriglyceridemia was present in 48.9% of patients with DM2 and 38.7% of HCs (p > 0.05). Low HDL cholesterol level was found in 29.8% of DM2 patients and 41.5% of HCs (p > 0.05). However, DM2 patients were more frequently on lipid lowering therapy (11.6% *vs* 3.2%, p = 0.05). Majority of DM2 patients had IR (63.8%). Diabetes melitus type 2 was present in 31.9% and glucose intolerance in 3.4% of patients. Patients with DM2 were more likely to be on oral hypoglycemic medications and/or insulin therapy than HCs (27.6% vs 1.1%, p < 0.01).

There were no significant differences in the frequency of MetS, hypertension, dyslipidaemia and hyperglycemia between men and women with DM2 (p > 0.05). On the other hand, central obesity was more common in women than in men 75.0% vs 33.3% (p < 0.01). DM2 patients with hypertension were more likely to be older than normotensive ones (55.7 ± 9.0 years vs 45.2 ± 11.5 years, p < 0.01). Frequency of MetS and its components showed

Table 2. Metabolic and	hemodynamic	parameters in	DM2 patients	and HCs.
------------------------	-------------	---------------	--------------	----------

Parameter	DM2 patients ($n = 47$)	HCs (n = 94)				
Waist circumference (x ± SD, cm)	91.4 ± 11.1	92.6 ± 12.5				
Systolic blood pressure (x \pm SD, mmHg)	128.6 ± 16.6	125.4 ± 16.7				
Diastolic blood pressure (x ± SD, mmHg)*	82.2 ± 8.8	78.8 ± 10.1				
Glycemia (x ± SD, mmol/l)	5.9 ± 3.0	5.4 ± 0.7				
Triglycerides (x ± SD, mmol/l)	1.8 ± 0.9	1.6 ± 1.5				
Total cholesterol (x ± SD, mmol/l) **	6.2 ± 1.5	5.3 ± 1.1				
HDL (x \pm SD, mmol/l) **	1.6 ± 0.5	1.3 ± 0.6				
LDL (x ± SD, mmol/l) **	3.9 ± 1.3	3.0 ± 0.9				

x: mean value; SD: standard deviation; HDL: high-density lipoprotein, LDL: low-density lipoprotein; * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01.

no correlation with patients' age (p > 0.05). In addition, there was no correlation of muscle strength, disease duration and level of education with the frequency of MetS and its components (p > 0.05).

Discussion

Half of our DM2 patients had MetS. In patients with DM1 MetS prevalence ranged from 17% to 41% depending on the criteria (5, 6). Higher frequency of MetS in patients with DM2 compared to DM1 may be due to the later onset and later diagnosis of DM2 (9, 12, 17). Similarly, frequency of the MetS in a general population depends on the age of population studied (18). Azizi et al found that frequency of MetS increased from < 5.6% in participants aged 30-39 years to 17.5% in participants aged 60-69 years (19). MetS was present in 42% of subjects older than 70 (20). MetS was also common (45.7%) in our HCs with mean age of 51 years. This is in accordance with the findings of Djokic et al. who found MetS in 28% of patients aged 40-49 and 43% of patients aged 50-59 at the primary health care institutions in Serbia (21).

Majority of studies found that arterial hypertension is the most frequent component of the MetS in general population 22). Similarly, arterial hypertension was the most common component of the MetS (64%) in our DM2 cohort. Furthermore, DM2 patients had a higher mean diastolic pressure compared to the control group (82.2 \pm 8.8 mmHg *vs* 78.8 \pm 10.1 mmHg, p < 0.05). On the other hand, arterial hypertension was present in only 18% of DM1 patients, and even arterial hypotension is common in this disease (5). Difference in the prevalence of arterial hypertension in DM1 versus DM2 patients may be due to the different molecular genetic mechanisms of these two conditions (23).

Visceral obesity was the second most common component of the MetS in our cohort (61.7%). Literature data on visceral obesity in DM2 patients are very limited. Visceral obesity and IR are considered to be the key components of the MetS (2). In our cohort, 34% of DM2 patients were overweighted or obese. Tieleman et al. found that mean BMI was similar in patients with DM2 and DM1 (24). On the other hand, DM1 patients were found to have a higher BMI, longer waist circumference and higher percentage of fat compared to age matched controls (4, 25). Although obesity can occur as a consequence of the physical inactivity due to the muscle weakness, Gagnon et al. found obese DM1 patients even among those with mild muscle weakness (26). This suggest the importance of investigating other risk factors for obesity, such as socio-economic status, and lifestyle habits including eating high-calorie food rich in fat and carbohydrates (26).

Serum triglycerides were elevated in approximately 50% of our DM2 patients, and mean serum total choles-

terol and LDL cholesterol were significantly higher in DM2 than in HCs. It is of note that levels of good cholesterol, i.e. HDL, were also higher in DM2. In a small cohort of 20 DM2 patients, Heatwole et al. reported hypercholesterolemia in 63% and hypertriglyceridemia in 26% percent of DM2 patients (7). In our previous study dyslipidaemia was the most common component of the MetS in patients with DM1 - 67% of patients had elevated triglycerides, while 35% had low HDL level (5). Around 12% of DM2 patients were on cholesterol lowering therapy which is of a practical importance because statins may worsen muscle weakness. It is well known that DM2 can be diagnosed in some patients with myalgias after introduction of the cholesterol lowering therapy (27).

IR was diagnosed in 64% and diabetes melitus type 2 in 32% of our DM2 patients. Savkur et al. demonstrated that aberrant regulation of the alternative splicing of insulin receptor is associated with insulin resistance in DM (28). Impaired insulin secretion, reduction of lean body mass and increased serum leptin levels are other mechanisms associated with IR (25, 29). Renna and colleagues recently reported that DM skeletal muscle exhibits alterations of post-receptor signalling (including basal phosphorylation levels of Akt/PKB, p70S6K, GSK3 β and ERK1/2), regardless of the alteration of insulin receptor splicing (30). Frequency of diabetes in our DM2 patients was higher than previously reported frequency in DM1. This suggests that eventual mechanisms that protect DM1 patients from development of diabetes, may not be present in DM2.

Although prevalence of MetS increases with age in a general population, in our DM2 cohort this correlation was not observed. On the other hand, we found association between arterial hypertension and aging which is similar to the findings from a general population (31). Disease duration and muscle weakness showed no correlation with MetS. This suggests that muscle weakness is not the key factor for development of MetS in DM2.

The main limitations of our study are lack of data regarding insulin levels and HOMA index in HC group, and lack of data on testosteron level in DM2 subjects since testosteron may have influence on visceral obesity and insulin resistance in DM1 and DM2 (32, 33). On the other hand, it is of note that none of our patients received testosteron therapy.

Conclusions

MetS was common in DM2 patients but not more frequent than in HCs. Regular screening for metabolic and hemodynamic disturbances in DM2 would enable early diagnosis and therapy. We suppose that treatment of metabolic disturbances may reduce cardiovascular complications and improve quality of life in patients with DM2, which is progressive and still incurable disorder.

References

- Udd B, Krahe R. The myotonic dystrophies: molecular, clinical, and therapeutic challenges. Lancet Neurol 2012;11:891-905.
- Grundy SM. Obesity, metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004;89:2595-600.
- Aitkens S, Kilmer DD, Wright NC, et al. Metabolic syndrome in neuromuscular disease. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2005;86:1030-6.
- Pruna L, Chatelin J, Pascal-Vigneron V, et al. Regional body composition and functional impairment in patients with myotonic dystrophy. Muscle Nerve 2011;44:503-8.
- 5. Vujnic M, Peric S, Popovic S, et al. Metabolic syndrome in patients with myotonic dystrophy type 1. Muscle Nerve 2015;52:273-7.
- Shieh K, Gilchrist JM, Promrat K. Frequency and predictors of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in myotonic dystrophy. Muscle Nerve 2010;41:197-201.
- Heatwole C, Johnson N, Goldberg B, et al. Laboratory abnormalities in patients with myotonic dystrophy type 2. Arch Neurol 2011;68:1180-4.
- Day JW, Ricker K, Jacobsen JF, et al. Myotonic dystrophy type
 2: molecular, diagnostic and clinical spectrum. Neurology 2003;60:657-64.
- Turner C et Hilton-Jones D. The myotonic dystrophies: diagnosis and management. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2010;81:358-67.
- Radvansky J, Ficek A, Kadasi L. Upgrading molecular diagnostics of myotonic dystrophies: multiplexing for simultaneous characterization of the DMPK and ZNF9 repeat motifs. Mol Cell Probes 2011;25:182-5.
- Medical Research Council. Aids to the investigation of peripheral nerve injuries. London: HMSO 1976.
- Peric S, Mandic-Stojmenovic G, Stefanova E, et al. Frontostriatal dysexecutive syndrome: a core cognitive feature of myotonic dystrophy type 2. J Neurol 2015a;262:142-8.
- 13. Alberti KGMM, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome. A joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. Circulation 2009;120:1640-5.
- Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, et al. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia 1985;28:412-9.
- Ascaso JF, Romero P, Real JT, et al. Abdominal obesity, insulin resistance, and metabolic syndrome in a southern European population. Eur J Intern Med 2003;14:101-6.
- 16. World Health Organization. BMI Classification 2004.
- Rakocevic-Stojanovic V, Peric S, Basta I, et al. Variability of multisystemic features in myotonic dystrophy type 1 – lessons from Serbian registry. Neurol Res 2015;37:939-44.

- Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ. The metabolic syndrome. Lancet 2005;365:1415-28.
- Azizi F, Salehi P, Etemadi A, et al. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome in an urban population: Tehran lipid and glucose study. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2003;61:29-37.
- Ford ES, Giles WH, Dietz WH. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among US adults: findings from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. JAMA 2002;287:356-9.
- Đokić B, Đonović N, Tadić B, et al. Factors and estimation of risk for cardiovascular diseases among patients in primary health care in Serbia. Cent Eur J Public Health 2015;23:195-9.
- 22. Olijhoek JK, Van der Graaf Y, Banga JD, et al. The metabolic syndrome is associated with advanced vascular damage in patients with coronary heart disease, stroke, peripheral arterial disease or abdominal aortic aneurysm. Eur Heart J 2004;25:342-8.
- O'Cochlain DF, Perez-Terzic C, Reyes S, et al. Transgenic overexpression of human DMPK accumulates into hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, myotonic myopathy and hypotension traits of myotonic dystrophy. Hum Mol Genet 2004;13:2505-18.
- Tieleman AA, Jenks KM, Kalkman JS, et al. High disease impact of myotonic dystrophy type 2 on physical and mental functioning. J Neurol 2011;258:1820-6.
- Rakocevic Stojanovic V, Peric S, Lavrnic D, et al. Leptin and the metabolic syndrome in patients with myotonic dystrophy type 1. Acta Neurol Scand 2010;121:94-8.
- Gagnon C, Chouinard MC, Laberge L, et al. Prevalence of lifestyle risk factors in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Can J Neurol Sci 2013;40:42-7.
- Meola G, Cardani R. Myotonic dystrophies: an update on clinical aspects, genetic, pathology, and molecular pathomechanisms. Biochim Biophys Acta 2015;1852:594-606.
- Savkur RS, Philips AV, Cooper TA. Aberrant regulation of insulin receptor alternative splicing is associated with insulin resistance in myotonic dystrophy. Nat Genet 2001;29:40-7.
- Perseghin G, Comola M, Scifo P, et al. Postabsortive and insulinstimulated energy and protein metab-olism in patients with myotonic dystrophy type 1. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;80:357-64.
- Renna LV, Bosè F, Iachettini S, et al. Receptor and post-receptor abnormalities contribute to insulin resistance in myotonic dystrophy type 1 and type 2 skeletal muscle. PLoS One 2017;12:e0184987.
- Babatsikou F, Zavitsanou A. Epidemiology of hypertension in the elderly. Health Sci J 2010;4:24-30.
- Passeri E, Bugiardini E, Sansone VA, et al. Gonadal failure is associated with visceral adiposity in myotonic dystrophies. Eur J Clin Invest 2015;45:702-10.
- Johansson A, Ahrén B, Forsberg H, et al. Testosterone and diurnal rhythmicity of leptin, TNF-alpha and TNF-II receptor in insulinresistant myotonic dystrophy patients. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2002;26:1386-92.

Immune-mediated necrotizing myopathy due to statins exposure

Luisa Villa¹², Alberto Lerario¹, Sonia Calloni³, Lorenzo Peverelli¹, Caterina Matinato⁴, Federica de Liso⁴, Ferruccio Ceriotti⁴, Roberto Tironi¹, Monica Sciacco¹, Maurizio Moggio¹, Fabio Triulzi³ and Claudia Cinnante³

¹ Neuromuscular and Rare Disease Unit, Department of Neuroscience, Foundation IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, University of Milan, Italy; ² Neuromuscular Disease Centre, Department of Clinical Neurosciences, University Hospital of Nice (CHU), France; ³ Neuroradiology Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Ca Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy; ⁴ Laboratorio analisi, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy

Statin-induced necrotizing autoimmune myopathy (IMNM) is an autoimmune disorder induced by anti-3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme-A reductase (anti-HMGCR) antibodies. We performed a retrospective clinical, histological, and radiological evaluation of 5 patients with a 3-year therapeutic follow-up. All patients used statins and then experienced proximal weakness that persisted after drug cessation. Muscle biopsies revealed a primary necrotizing myopathy without inflammatory infiltrates. All patients required immunomodulant combination therapy to achieve clinical remission. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showed the presence of edema in the medial gastrocnemius, posterior and central loggia of the thigh, posterior loggia of the arm, and the infraspinatus and subscapularis muscles, as well as extensive inflammation of the subcutaneous tissues and muscolaris fasciae. Serum analysis, muscle biopsy, and MRI are fundamental for IMNM diagnosis and follow-up. The growing use of statins in the general population raises the importance of acquaintance with this disease in clinical practice.

Key words: HMGCR autoantibodies, muscular MRI, necrotizing myopathy

Introduction

Inflammatory myopathies constitute a heterogeneous group of disorders targeting skeletal muscle. Different inflammatory myopathies vary with regards to prognosis and response to pharmacological therapy. Immunemediated necrotizing myopathy (IMNM) is a recently recognized category of idiopathic inflammatory myopathy. The autoimmune nature of IMNM is suggested by its frequent association with two specific autoantibodies: 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase (HMGCR) and signal recognition particle (SRP) (1). Among patients using statins, the estimated IMNM incidence rate is 2-3 per 100,000 patients, with increased risk among patients over 50 years of age (2, 3).

Histological characteristics of IMNM include the presence of necrotic fibers without inflammatory cell infiltrates. The underlying pathogenesis remains unclear, but statins appear to play a major role. Statins can trigger the expression of anti-HMGCR antibodies. This induces muscle synthesis of HMGCR enzyme, which is normally poorly expressed in mature muscle cells, potentially maintaining inflammatory activity even after statin discontinuation (4-6). First-line treatment of IMNM involves steroids, which is generally effective although steroid treatment usually must be administered in combination with other immunosuppressive agents (9, 10).

Over the last decade, muscle magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has become a very useful tool in the diagnosis and follow-up of patients with myopathies. Muscle MRI provides information regarding skeletal muscle structure and function, such as the presence of edema and/or fatty infiltration, and it is a good technique for monitoring disease progression (7). To date, only one study has analyzed the muscle involvement pattern in patients with IMNM, reporting widespread muscle involvement and a trend towards atrophy and fatty replacement (8). The predominantly involved muscles are the lateral obturators, glutei, and the thigh medial and posterior compartment (8).

Address for correspondence: Alberto Lerario, Neuromuscular and Rare Disease Unit, Department of Neuroscience, Foundation IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, University of Milan, via F. Sforza 35, 20122 Milan, Italy. E-mail: alberto.lerario@policlinico.mi.it

The widespread use of statins in the general population increases the importance of being familiar with IMNM in daily clinical practice. In the present study, we aimed to describe the clinical and histological characteristics of 5 patients affected with IMNM, as well as their post-treatment outcomes, and to illustrate a new MRI pattern for IMNM recognition that may be helpful in early diagnosis.

Methods

Patients. This study included 5 patients belonging to a database approved by the local Ethical Committee. They were diagnosed with IMNM and followed at our Institute from 2014 to 2017. Inclusion criteria were exposure to statins, progressively increasing CK serum activity despite therapy discontinuation, clinical presentation involving subacute onset of severe proximal hyposthenia, necrotizing pattern at muscle biopsy, and serum positivity for anti-HMGCR antibodies.

Each patient was clinically evaluated at the onset of symptoms, as well as during treatment to assess the response to therapy. All patients underwent anti-HMGCR antibody screening tests, EMG, neoplastic screening, muscle biopsy, and muscle MRI.

Diagnostic Imaging. Muscle MRI images of the legs and right arm were acquired using Turbo Spin Echo (TSE) sequences T1, fat sensitive, and Short tau-inversion-recovery (STIR) T2-weighted, fluid sensitive, on a Philips Achieva 1.5T MRI system. Axial images were contiguously acquired throughout the pelvic girdle, thigh

and leg to allow for evaluation of the full extent of each muscle. In the arm study, images partially include shoulder girdle.

MRI scanning was performed before therapy in 4 of the 5 patients, and after treatment in all 5 patients. Each muscle was graded according to the degree of fatty substitution apparent on T1WI sequences using the scale proposed by Mercuri et al. (11) Similarly, muscle edema was graded based on the T2-STIR sequences using a 4-point scale (none = 0, mild = 1, moderate = 2, severe = 3) (12). We also assessed the presence of both soft-tissue and perifascicular edema.

Muscle Biopsy and Serum Analysis. After all patients signed the specific informed consent, skeletal muscle biopsy was performed. Muscle biopsy samples were prepared and analyzed using standard light microscopy techniques (13). Serum concentration of anti-HMGCR antibodies was screened for the presence of by the ELISA method using a commercial kit (QUANTA Lite[®] HMGCR ELISA; Inova Diagnostics, San Diego, Ca, USA) on a Quantalyser[®] 160 instrument (Inova Diagnostics, San Diego, Ca, USA) as previously described (14).

Treatment. All patients underwent immunosuppression with a combination of multiple drugs (Table 1).

Results

Demographics and Clinical Features. All patients showed moderate to severe proximal and trunk weakness and myalgia. Only Patient 2 showed occasional dysphagia. The patients exhibited extremely high CK levels with

	Patient 1	Patient 2	Patient 3	Patient 4	Patient 5
Age and sex	67, W	65, M	59, M	76, M	63, W
Statin (years of use)	Simvastatin, atorvastatin (6 years)	Atorvastatin (5 years)	Atorvastatin (3 years)	Atorvastatin (10 years)	Atorvastatin (5 years)
EMG findings	Myopathic, fibrillation, repetitive discharges	Myopathic, fibrillation	Myopathic, fibrillation potentials, repetitive discharges	Myopathic, fibrillation	Myopathic, fibrillation, repetitive discharges
Autoantibodies	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative	Negative
Treatment	PRD, AZA, IVIg, MTX, MFN	PRD, AZA, IVIg	PRD, AZA	PRD, IVIg, MTX, MFN	PRD, MTX, IVIg
Treatment period before recovery	2 years	1 year	1 year	2 years	2 years
Clinical follow-up	Normalization of muscle strength	Improvement of muscle strength	Normalization of muscle strength	Normalization of muscle strength	Improvement of muscle strength

Table 1. Clinical features, instrumental examination, and drug treatments of patients with statin-related IMNM.

The autoantibodies tested were: ANA, ENA, ANCA, Mi2, Ku, PM-Scl, 100 and 75, Jo1, SRP, PL 7, 12, EJ, and OJ. PRD, prednisone; AZA, azathioprine; IVIG, intravenous immunoglobulin; MTX, methotrexate; MFN, mycophenolate mofetil.

peak values between 5900 and 9584 U/L. All patients had a medical history of long-term statin use (3 to 18 years). Patient 1 had history of hypertension, diabetes mellitus and dyslipidaemia. EMG revealed a myopathic pattern with fibrillation activity and bizarre high frequency discharges in all patients. All patients started steroid treatment for at least 6 months, after the ineffectiveness of this therapy we performed three cycles of IVIg one month apart from one another. If patients still had symptoms or signs of myopathy, we had another immunosuppressive therapy.

Table 1 shows the patients' detailed clinical features, instrumental examinations, and treatments.

Histology. Muscle examination showed several, scattered necrotic fibers in all specimens, without evidence of inflammatory infiltrates or perifascicular atrophy (Fig. 1). All samples exhibited fiber size variability. Cell typing revealed a scattered presence of CD4+ or CD8+ cells, with no clear distribution pattern. Human leukocyte antigen type I (HLA I) autoantibodiess positivity was detected only in necrotic fibers except for patient 3 muscle biopsy which showed membrane positivity also in some scattered non-necrotic fibers (Fig. 1). Anti-membrane attack complex autoantibodies negative in all muscle biopsies.

Serum Antibody Analysis. Anti-HMGCR autoantibodiess were markedly positive in all patients at the time of diagnosis before treatment. After one month of treatment and at six months after CK normalization, anti-HMGCR autoantibodiess were still detectable in all patients,.

MRI Imaging. Pre-treatment MRI showed several grades of edema at the level of the central and posterior loggia of the thigh and pelvic girdle, and a mild trend towards atrophy and fatty replacement. The most affected



Figure 1. Histological findings with hematoxylin-eosin staining (A) and Gomori trichrome (B) and histochemical findings with acid phosphatase (C) revealing necrotic muscle fibers without any cellular infiltrates. Immunohistochemical evidence of HLA autoantibodies positivity present only in necrotic fibers. MHC class I are expressed only in the cytoplasm of necrotic muscle fibers (D,E). We observed also a variable prevalence of CD8+ cells (F) or CD4+ cells (G,H,I) with no clear distribution pattern.

muscles were the adductor muscles, particularly the adductor brevis, semimembranosus and long head biceps, as well as the obturators and gluteus maximum. At the leg level, the most affected muscle was the medial gastrocnemius whereas at the arm level triceps and deltoid, followed by infraspinatus and subscapularis, were mostly involved. Figure 2 shows the different grades of fatty replacement and levels of edema documented in the thighs, legs, and arms in pre-treatment MRI scans. Inflammation of the subcutaneous tissue and the muscular fascia was



Figure 2. Figure A-C-E. Pre-treatment axial T2 STIR images show edema respectively at the level of the deltoid, subscapularis and infraspinatus muscles and the medial heads of the gastrocnemius muscles bilaterally. Edema is seen at the level of the subcutaneus tissue and the fascia (dotted arrows). Figure B-D-F. Post-treatment axial T2 STIR images document complete resolution of the oedema in the corresponding compartments. Figure G: Extension of oedema of individual muscles on pre treatment MRI, assessed on axial T2WI STIR images. A 4-point scale graduation represent an average of the individual score of the 5 patients for each muscle.

observed in 3 of 4 patients. Post-treatment MRI revealed complete resolution of edema. The grades of fatty replacement remained largely unchanged.

Discussion

Statin use has consistently increased in the last twenty years and has led to more frequent toxic neuromuscular complications, usually self-limiting after drug discontinuation. Quite often, however, statin use induces an autoimmune reaction and causes the development of an aggressive IMNM. The disease is quite rare and, also due to the lack of a validated commercial diagnostic kit, often still under-diagnosed.

In our study all patients had taken atorvastatin. However, due to the small number of examined patients, further studies are certainly needed to validate this association. The 5 patients affected with statin-induced IMNM with serum positivity for anti-HMGCR antibodies and typical pattern of severe necrotizing muscular biopsy, showing acute weakness of trunk flexor and limb girdle muscles, whereas the bulbar muscles were generally spared. Axial involvement is not common among other types of inflammatory myopathies (15). Indeed, in statin-induced myopathies, MRI imaging reportedly shows involvement of the dorsal muscle groups of both the thighs (8, 16). Compared to others toxic and druginduced myopathies, MRI imaging in our IMNM patients revealed more extensive edema and a trend towards fatty muscle replacement. These findings are in agreement with the recent literature (8). Moreover, extending the study to leg, arm and shoulder girdle, we found a new pattern recognition involving also the medial gastrocnemius and, at the arm level, triceps and deltoid followed by infraspinatus and subscapularis. We also observed inflammation of the subcutaneous tissues and of muscolaris fasciae of both arms and legs, which has not been previously reported to our knowledge (Fig. 2). These findings suggest that patients affected with IMNM may exhibit a wider systemic inflammatory response that is not limited to skeletal muscles.

These new MRI findings allow to improve the differential diagnosis between IMNM myopathy and other inflammatory myopathies and to distinguish IMNM from the toxic myopathy related to statin intake. This distinction is important because toxic myopathy usually improves and then resolves following interruption of statin intake; conversely, IMNM myopathy progressively worsens even after statin suspension and causes a very severe, sometimes hardly or non-reversible, damage to the muscles. Ultimately, muscle MRI may be a useful tool to monitor the evolution of muscle disease over time, but it can be used also as a fist-line screening to identify the most affected muscle and therefore increase the diagnostic accuracy of the skeletal muscle biopsy.

Appropriate therapeutic control is tricky in this type of inflammatory myopathy. Each patient required several immunosuppressive treatments before achieving clinical control. Indeed, all patients were initially treated with IV steroids, followed by high-dose oral steroid therapy, with concomitant superimposition of additional immunosuppressive drugs. Moreover all patients achieved normalization of CK levels and improved muscle strength, albeit with different drug associations and time intervals until response. In two patients, tapering attempts were followed by immediate increase of CK levels that required drug restoration.

In our present study, we aimed to provide a systematic comprehension of this currently under-diagnosed disease in terms of both diagnostic tools and therapeutic options, and to help define the MRI pattern for IMNM recognition to improve its diagnosis.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank the "Associazione Amici del Centro Dino Ferrari, University of Milan"; The Biobank of Skeletal Muscle, Peripheral Nerve, DNA and Cell Cultures, which is a member of the Telethon Network of Genetic Biobanks, funded by Telethon Italy; and the Eurobiobank Network. Representatives of these networks gave their consent to be named.

References

- Arouche-Delaperche L, Allenbach Y, Amelin D, et al. Pathogenic role of anti-signal recognition protein and anti-3-Hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase antibodies in necrotizing myopathies: myofiber atrophy and impairment of muscle regeneration in necrotizing autoimmune myopathies. Ann Neurol 2017;81:538-48.
- Floyd JS, Brody JA, Tiniakou E, et al. Absence of anti-HMG-CoA reductase autoantibodies in severe self-limited statin-related myopathy. Muscle Nerve 2016;54:142-4.
- Mammen AL, Chung T, Christopher-Stine L, et al. Autoantibodies against 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase in patients with statin-associated autoimmune myopathy. Arthritis Rheum 2011;63:713-21.
- Albayda J, Mammen AL. Is statin-induced myositis part of the polymyositis disease spectrum? Curr Rheumatol Rep 2014;16:433.
- Christopher-Stine L. Statin myopathy: an update. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2006;18:647-53.
- Christopher-Stine L, Casciola-Rosen LA, Hong G, et al. A novel autoantibody recognizing 200-kd and 100-kd proteins is associated with an immune-mediated necrotizing myopathy. Arthritis Rheum 2010;62:2757-66.

Luisa Villa et al.

- Carlier PG, Mercuri E, Straub V. Applications of MRI in muscle diseases. Neuromuscul Disord 2012;22(Suppl 2):S41.
- Pinal-Fernandez I, Casal-Dominguez M, Carrino JA, et al. Thigh muscle MRI in immune-mediated necrotising myopathy: extensive oedema, early muscle damage and role of anti-SRP autoantibodies as a marker of severity. Ann Rheum Dis 2017;76:681-7.
- Ramanathan S, Langguth D, Hardy TA, et al. Clinical course and treatment of anti-HMGCR antibody-associated necrotizing autoimmune myopathy. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm 2015;2:e96.
- Tiniakou E, Pinal-Fernandez I, Lloyd TE, et al. More severe disease and slower recovery in younger patients with anti-3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase-associated autoimmune myopathy. Rheumatology 2017;56:787-94.
- 11. Mercuri E, Pichiecchio A, Counsell S, et al. A short protocol for

muscle MRI in children with muscular dystrophies. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 2002;6:305-7.

- Pichiecchio A, Rossi M, Cinnante C, et al. Muscle MRI of classic infantile pompe patients: fatty substitution and edema-like changes. Muscle Nerve 2017;55:841-8.
- Dubowitz V SC, Lane RJM. Muscle biopsy: a practical approach. New York, NY: Elsevier 2007.
- Musset L, Allenbach Y, Benveniste O, et al. Anti-HMGCR antibodies as a biomarker for immune-mediated necrotizing myopathies: a history of statins and experience from a large international multicenter study. Autoimmun Rev 2016;15:983-93.
- Dalakas MC. Inflammatory muscle diseases. N Engl J Med 2015;373:393-4.
- Kipfer S, Frigerio S, Hench J, et al. Immune-mediated necrotising myopathy linked to statin use. Lancet 2015;386:e26.

Novel desmoplakin mutations in familial Carvajal syndrome

Danat Yermakovich¹, Larysa Sivitskaya¹, Tatiyana Vaikhanskaya², Nina Danilenko¹ and Iryna Motuk³

¹Institute of Genetics and Cytology, National Academy of Sciences, Minsk, Belarus; ²Republican Scientific and Practical Center of Cardiology, Minsk, Belarus; ³Medical Genetic Department of Regional Perinatal Center, Grodno, Belarus

Desmoplakin is encoded by *DSP* gene, whose altered function leads to skin and hair abnormalities, and heart diseases. The whole triad of these traits characterizes the Carvajal syndrome (CS).

CS is an autosomal recessive genetic disorder, mapping on chromosome 6q24 and caused by mutations in DSP gene.

We report a patient with CS caused by two novel mutations in *DSP* gene, inherited from his parents, both asymptomatic. The same phenotype was present in his younger sister who showed skin abnormality and woolly hairs. The segregation analysis of the known loci in DSP gene performed by genetic testing, was able to established the trans position of the two mutations (c.6986T > C and c.7123G > C) in the patient and his sister. The first mutation has been inherited from the mother, the other one from the father. The resulting compound heterozygous mutation in the siblings, is likely the cause of the disease.

Key words: Carvajal syndrome, cardiocutaneous phenotype, desmoplakin mutations

Desmosomes are cell junctional complexes involved in the regulation of homeostasis. They participate in signalling cascades and provide resistance against mechanical stress, maintaining the strength and rigidity of the cells (1). This property is especially important for cardiac and epidermal tissues, where adjacent cell contacts largely contribute to correct functioning (2). A crucial component of desmosomes is desmoplakin encoded by the DSP gene (3), whose mutations have been associated to the Carvajal syndrome (CS). This syndrome is an autosomal recessive genetic disorder characterized by the following manifestations: woolly hair, striate palmoplantar keratoderma and left ventricular dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM). Additional phenotypic signs include dental abnormalities and leukonychia (4, 5). The symptoms of the disease usually manifest over time. Woolly hair is present from birth, while palmoplantar keratoderma develops after infancy. Left ventricular dilatation is usually asymptomatic at an early age and cannot be diagnosed without instrumental cardiologic examination. Complaints of chest pain appear in 8-12 years. DCM in CS progresses rapidly, leading to heart failure or sudden death in adolescence. CS is caused by homozygous or compound heterozygous mutations in the DSP gene often occurring in hot spots of the gene, exons 23 and 24 (6, 7).

In this article, we report a familial CS with two affected sibs sharing a compound heterozygous mutation in DSP gene, inherited from asymptomatic parents.

Case presentation

The proband is a 11-year-old boy presenting focal keratoderma, specifically affecting the palmoplantar epidermis, woolly hair, and DCM (Fig. 1), consistent with a diagnosis of Carvajal Syndrome. Woolly hair has been observed from birth, while the keratoderma appeared during the second year of life. The manifestation of the DCM occurred at the age of 10 years with complaints of dyspnea and weakness. The cardiomyopathy was confirmed by cardiological examination including electrocardiography (ECG) echocardiography (Echo) and computed tomography (CT). A year later, despite the pharmacological treatment, the physicians observed a significant and rapid evolution of biatrial and biventricular dilatation with severe systolic dysfunction of both ventricles. The patient was hospitalized to receive optimal therapy for severe heart failure and then, at the age of 11 years, he underwent successful orthotopic heart transplantation.

The 5-year-old sister of the proband had similar clinical manifestations as skin abnormality and woolly hairs, appearing from birth (Fig. 1d-e). She was asymptomatic

Address for correspondence: Danat Yermakovich, Institute of Genetics and Cytology, National Academy of Sciences, Akademicheskayast 27, 220072, Minsk, Belarus. Tel. +37 529 367 0538. E-mail: cytoplasmic@mail.ru



Figure 1. Clinical findings. Manifestations of the Carvajal syndrome in the proband (a, b) and his sister (d, e.); CT scan of the patient's chest with signs of cardiomegaly (c).

and showed no signs of cardiac involvement. Since the age of 4 she underwent a comprehensive cardiac examination every 6 months, without any pathological result. ECG, Holter, and Echo investigation.

Genetics study

The NGS analysis was performed in the Laboratory of molecular pathology "Genomed Ltd." (Moscow). using a panel for inherited heart diseases. Two heterozygous mutations in exon 24 of the DSP gene were found - c.7123G > C and c.6986T > C (NM_004415.2), not represented in the gnomAD database, so they can be defined as truly rare variants.

The first mutation - c.7123G > C - leads to the amino acid substitution p.Gly2375Arg (rs376923069). Only GO-ESP database reports 0.0001 (1/13006) frequency for this mutation; however the G > A change in the same position, that leads to Gly > Arg substitution too, has a 0.00006 (2/31394) frequency, according to gnomAD. c.7123G > C was found in one individual with DCM, woolly hair, keratoderma and classified as variant of uncertain significance (VUS) in the "Actionable exomic incidental findings in 6503 participants", and it was previously described by Alcalai et al. (2003) in a case study of a patient with familial autosomal recessive arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia, woolly hair and a pemphigous-like skin disorder (8).

The second mutation - c.6986T > C - that results in p.Leu2329Pro substitution, is not reported neither in the population databases nor mentioned in published reports.

To follow the segregation of the variants, we performed the segregation analysis in the whole family. The research was carried out according to the Declaration of Helsinki Principles. The parents gave written consent for genetic research after being informed. Their DNA was extracted from buccal epithelium by the phenol-chloroform method. The 24th exon of DSP gene was amplified and sequenced using the Sanger method. The mother was found to be carrier of the c.6986T > C mutation, the father carrier of the 7123G > C mutation (Fig. 2). Both parents of the proband are asymptomatic.

The analisys of segregation in the family established the trans position for c.7123G > C and c.6986T > C variants. As a consequence, the structure of the DSP gene is disrupted on both chromosomes 6 in the proband and his sister.

The combination of these variants forms a compound heterozygous conditon having a high probability to be the cause of the disease. Currently, the ClinVar database includes more than 108 pathogenic and 78 likely pathogenic variations in the DSP gene that are associated with



Figure 2. Results of the segregation analysis. The arrow indicates the proband; \blacksquare = affected; \bigcirc = carrier

Table '	1.	Different	predictors'	scores	provided	by	Condel.
						- /	

	The substitution			
Predictor	p.Gly2375Arg	p.Leu2329Pro		
SIFT 1→0	0.08	0.0		
PPH2 0→1	1.0	1.0		
MA 0→4	3.63	3.31		
FATHMM +8→-5	-2.23	-2.64		
Condel 0→1	0.73	0.68		
Condel label	Deleterious	Deleterious		

The direction of the arrows shows the way of increasing pathogenicity strength of the variants.

defects in epidermal tissue (skin, hair) in a wide range of phenotypes, frequently with heart abnormalities (ClinVar 2018).

The evaluation of the c.7123G > C and c.6986T > C variants according to the algorithm ACMG/AMP (9) is likely pathogenic. The following criteria have been assigned: PM1 (variant is located in a mutational hot spot), PM2 (absent fromcontrols/extremely low frequency), PM3 (detected in trans with a pathogenic variant), PP1 (co-segregation with disease), PP4 (patient's phenotype is highly specific for a disease), PP3 (results of in silico analysis). Computational methods predict a deleterious impact of the mutations on the protein functions (Table 1). The authors of the ACMG/AMP guideline recommend to use a PP1 as stronger evidence under specific conditions. Based on the facts outlined above, we consider the segregation of the two mutations in this family as a strong evidence of pathogenicity.

Discussion

An unfavorable prognosis of the Carvajal syndrome is associated with early onset of the disease, high risk of sudden cardiac death and a rapidly developing heart failure consequent to the progressive dilatation of the heart chambers (10). Heart failure develops in patients with CS in early childhood, and an extreme dilatation of the left ventricle is detected in more than 90% of patients in their early teens.

Although the young sister of the proband does not show cardiac involvement, considering her young age an onset of the heart disease in future cannot be excluded.

In this regard, international experts recommend to perform in children presenting palmoplantar keratoderma and woolly hair a comprehensive cardiological evaluation by ECG, Holter monitoring and Echo as soon as possible in order to detect possible cardiac anomalies and children at risk of premature death. An early diagnosis may be lifesaving in these patients (10).

Conclusions

We describe two cases of CS syndrome due to novel mutations in the DSP gene. The pathogenicity of the two variants – c.6986T > C and c.7123G > C – was assumed by the clear segregation of the disease with mutations in exon 24 of the DSP gene, and by the presence in the family of heterozygous unaffected parents who generated two children with Carvajal's syndrome, sharing mutations in a compound heterozygous condition.

References

- Green K, Parry D, Steinert D, et al. Structures of the human desmoplakins: implications for function in the desmosomal plaque. J Biol Chem 1990;265:2603-12.
- Cowin P, Bruke B. Cytoskeleton-membrane interactions. Curr Opin Cell Bio 1996;8:56-65.
- Nitoiu D, Etheridge SL, Kelsell DP. Insights into desmosome biology from inherited human skin disease and cardiocutaneous syndromes. Cell Commun Adhes 2014;21:129-40.
- Boule S, Fressart V, Laux D, et al. Expanding the phenotype associated with a desmoplakin dominant mutation: Carvajal/Naxos syndrome associated with leukonychia and oligodontia. Int J Cardiol 2012;161:50-2.
- Carvajal-Huerta L. Epidermolytic palmo-plantar keratoderma with woolly hair and dilated cardiomyopathy. J Am Acad Dermatol 1998;39:418-21.
- Protonotarios N, Tsatsopoulou A. Naxos disease and Carvajal syndrome: cardiocutaneous disorders that highlight the pathogenesis and broaden the spectrum of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Cardiovasc Pathol 2004;13:185-94.
- Yesudian PD, Cabral RM, Ladusans E et al. Novel compound heterozygous mutations in the desmoplakin gene cause hair shaft abnormalities and culminate in lethal cardiomyopathy. Clin Exp Dermatol 2014;39:506-8.
- Alcalai R, Metzger S, Rosenheck S, et al. A recessive mutation in desmoplakin causes arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia, skin disorder, and woolly hair. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;42:319-27.

Danat Yermakovich et al.

- Richards S, Aziz N, Bale S, et al. Standards and guidelines for the interpretation of sequence variants: joint consensus recommendation of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics and the Association for Molecular Pathology. Genet Med 2015;17:405-24.
- Malčić I, Buljević, B. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy, Naxos island disease and Carvajal syndrome. Central Eur J Paed 2017;13:93-106.

CASE REPORTS

Heart transplantation in a patient with Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 and end-stage dilated cardiomyopathy: a short term follow-up

Andrea Antonio Papa^{1*}, Federica Verrillo¹, Marianna Scutifero², Anna Rago¹, Salvatore Morra², Antonio Cassese¹, Nadia Della Cioppa³, Maria Cristina Giada Magliocca⁴, Dario Galante⁵, Alberto Palladino², Paolo Golino¹ and Luisa Politano^{2*}

¹ Department of Cardiology, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Monaldi Hospital, Naples, Italy; ² Cardiomyology and Medical Genetics, Department of Experimental Medicine, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Naples, Italy; ³ Department of Anesthesiology, Monaldi Hospital, Naples, Italy; ⁴ Anesthesia Department, Moscati Hospital, Aversa, Caserta, Italy; ⁵ Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, University Hospital Ospedali Riuniti, Foggia, Italy

Myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1) or Steinert's disease is the most common muscular dystrophy in adult life with an estimated prevalence of 1:8000. Cardiac involvement, including arrhythmias and conduction disorders, contributes significantly to the morbidity and mortality of the disease. Mild ventricular dysfunction has also been reported associated with conduction disorders, but severe ventricular systolic dysfunction is not a frequent feature and usually occurs late in the course of the disease. Heart transplantation is currently considered the ultimate gold standard surgical approach in the treatment of refractory heart failure in general population. To date, considering the shortage of donors that limit the achievement of a greater number of heart transplants and the reluctance of the cardiac surgeons to transplant patients with dystrophic cardiomyopathy, little is known about the number of patients with DM1 transplanted and their outcome. We report the case of a 44 year old patient with Steinert disease who showed an early onset ventricular dysfunction refractory to optimal medical and cardiac resincronization therapy, and underwent to successful heart transplantation. At our knowledge, this is the second heart transplantation performed in a patient affected by Steinert disease after the one reported by Conraads et al in 2002.

Key words: myotonic dystrophy type 1, heart transplantation, dilated cardiomyopathy

Introduction

Steinert's disease or Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 (DM1) is an autosomal dominant multisystemic disor-

der characterized by myotonia, muscle and facial weakness, cataracts, cognitive, endocrine and gastrointestinal involvement. Cardiac involvement affects the conduction system in about 80% of cases and usually follows the onset of myopathy (1). One third of patients with DM1 may have sudden cardiac death, likely due to the onset of malignant ventricular arrhythmias, so the early identification and treatment of the cardiac impairment is the main key to prevent this tragic event. Advanced degrees of conduction abnormalities and arrhythmias are indicated as significant predictors of mortality in patients with DM1 (2, 3). Myocardial contractility is less commonly impaired and heart failure (HF) may occur late in the course of the disease as the final stage of the cardiomyopathy (4, 5). Despite cardiac involvement, DM1 patients are usually asymptomatic, probably due to the limited level of activity and consequently reduced cardiac demand (3). Heart transplantation (HT) is currently considered the ultimate gold-standard surgical approach in the treatment of refractory heart failure (RHF), a situation in which the patients present with great functional limitation and high mortality rate (6). Thus, HT should be taken into account for patients in III and IV NYHA class, who need recurrent hospitalizations, and present with a poor prognosis despite the therapeutic optimization.

To date, because of the shortage of donors and the high operative risk related to muscle impairment and respiratory failure in patients with DM1, heart transplanta-

^{*} Address for correspondence: Andrea A. Papa, Chair of Cardiology, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Naples, Italy. E-mail: andreaantoniopapa@libero.it; Luisa Politano, Cardiomyology and Medical Genetics, Department of Experimental Medicine University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Naples, Italy. E-mail: luisa.politano@unicampania.it

tion is not considered an appropriate option in these patients (7).

We report the second case of a successful heart transplantation in patient with Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 who showed an early ventricular dysfunction, despite the employ of optimal medical and cardiac resynchronization therapy.

Case report

A 44-year-old man, affected by Steinert disease and regularly followed at the Cardiomyology and Medical Genetics of the University Hospital "Luigi Vanvitelli" since the time of his diagnosis (2003), recently needed frequent hospitalisations for exacerbations of signs and symptoms of congestive heart failure, occurred in 2016.

The diagnosis of DM1, based on family history (father and one brother affected) and presence of typical clinical features (myotonic phenomenon, mild distal skeletal muscle atrophy, cataract, gastrointestinal disturbances, endocrine deficiency), was subsequently confirmed by molecular testing, that showed a pathological expansion (500 CTG triplets). In 2005, a bicameral pacemaker (PM) was implanted because evidence of first degree (PR interval ≥ 255 ms) plus second-degree type 2 atrio-ventricular block (8-12), and concomitant episodes of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation (AF), a frequent finding in this population (13-22, 23-28). The implant was followed by an improvement of symptoms and quality of life. In 2013, the PM was uploaded to a cardioverter defibrillator (ICD), because of the detection of not sustained ventricular tachycardia (NSVT) in pacemaker stored electrograms. According to our protocol the uploading is usually performed to prevent the risk of sudden cardiac death, frequently observed in these patients as in others muscular dystrophies (29-32). At six-months follow-up, the epicardial CRT did not induce symptom relief, nor improvement of the ejection fraction (Fig. 1) or reduction of the arrhythmic risk.

Three years later during a routine cardiological check, signs of congestive heart failure (CHF) were detected. Transthoracic echocardiography showed a dilated cardiomyopathy, with a left ventricular end-diastolic diameter (LVEDD) of 7.4 cm and an ejection fraction, calculated by the Simpson and Teichholz method, of 25%. Pharmacological treatment was changed to achieve symptom remission. Six months later the patient was hospitalised for a new episode of HF [fatigue, muscle weakness, dyspnea, ortophnea, edema and palpitations, New York Heart Association (NYHA) class III]. At the control, blood pressure (BP) was 107/57 mmHg and heart rate (HR) 70/bpm, crackles at the basal field of lungs and pretibial edema were detected. Chest X-ray confirmed cardiac dilation and pulmonary congestion. In the following 12 months, despite the optimization of the medical therapy, the patient experienced two further episodes of acute heart failure. The therapy was changed again and included a more aggressive loop diuretic therapy, β-blockers, spironolactone and ACE inhibitors (33). As no relief in symptoms of heart failure was obtained, the patient underwent - after the acquisition of informed consent - cardiac resynchronization therapy (34-36) using an epicardial approach because of angiographic evidence of right subclavian vein occlusion (37). As six-months later, no symptom relief was reported by the patient, nor an improvement in the ejection fraction detected on the echocardiogram, the patient was addressed to heart transplantation that was performed in June 2018. At the time of transplant preevaluation, the patient showed a mild muscular impairment and no respiratory involvement.

Follow-up

The intraoperative course did not reveal any complication; the postoperative course was prolonged due to transient severe respiratory failure requiring antibiotic therapy and mechanical ventilation. The invasive ventilation was withdrawn 3 days after surgery and antibiotic therapy prolonged for 20 days. As post-operative immunosuppression, the patient received cyclosporine A and everolimus. Subsequently, oral prednisone was added to maintain immunosuppression. At one month follow-up the patient showed a successful functional rehabilitation with a good performance status. Neither evidence of graft dysfunction nor progression of muscular impairment was detected after 1 and 3 months, respectively. The cardiological post-operative follow-up included evaluation of patient's clinical status and echocardiography. At 3 months follow-up, no symptoms of heart failure (e.g. breathlessness, ankle swelling and fatigue) nor clinical signs (e.g. elevated jugular venous pressure, pulmonary crackles and peripheral oedema) were found and the patient's exercise tolerance was slightly improved. Transthoracic echocardiography showed normal heart size (left ventricular end-diastolic diameter - LVEDD - was 4, 2 cm) and systolic function (EF and FS were 64% and 37%, respectively) (Fig. 2). The observed enlargement of the left atrium is a normal post-transplantation finding.

Discussion

Cardiac complications – as conduction system anomalies and arrhythmias – in patients suffering from Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 have been frequently described in the literature. Conversely dilated cardiomyopahy in general and end-stage cardiomyopathy in particular is



Figure 1. Echocardiographic findings six months after ICD-CRT implantation. Epicardial resynchronization therapy did not induce improvement in left ventricular ejection fraction and reverse remodeling. Please note a blood clot (thrombus) in the left apical ventricle (white arrow).

uncommon (8). The clinical recognition of congestive heart failure in muscular diseases has some more difficulties, as fatigue is often inherent to muscle weakness while exercise tolerance can be impaired by the muscle disease itself. In the classic clinical picture of myotonic dystrophy, skeletal muscle impairment appears years before the onset of cardiac symptoms. Nevertheless, in some cases, cardiomyopathy may represent the initial and unique manifestation of the inherited myopathy (4, 5), as it happened in our patient, in which a marked discrepancy between skeletal muscle and cardiac involvement was observed. In fact, while myopathy was mild and slowly progressive, cardiomyopathy displayed a rapid and severe course requiring HT about 15 years after the diagnosis.

The early onset of heart failure in this patient could be related to the electromechanical delay caused by the intra- and inter-ventricular asynchrony induced by the chronic right apical pacing that causes an uncoordination in the heart contraction which in turn accelerates the progression of the heart failure, as previously reported (37).

Heart transplantation is an elective treatment in patients with ischemic disease and refractary end-stage HF; it is usually accepted that this procedure significantly increases survival, exercise capacity and quality of life compared with conventional treatment (6). However controlled trials are not available.

Inherited myopathies in patients with endstage cardiomyopathies have always been considered a relative controindication for HT (39) because of the perioperative risk secondary to respiratory muscle weakness. Furthermore, a possible progression of the underlying myopathy due to immunosuppressive therapy, is a potential side effect with unknown consequences on the quality of life and prognosis. However, previous papers showed that clinical outcomes of cardiac transplantation in Duchenne/ Becker patients with end-stage dystrophinopathic cardiomyopathy seem to be similar to a matched cohort of patients undergoing transplantation for idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy (40-43). In particular, Cripe et al. (42) reported the case of a 14-year-old patient with intermediate Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (IDMD), preserved pulmonary function and severe dilated cardiomyopathy who underwent successful cardiac transplantation and survived four years later. Rees et al. (43) described heart transplantation in 3 patients with DMD with a mean duration of follow-up of 40 months. All patients tolerated immunosuppression, had no complications in post-operative intubation and were able to be rehabilitated.

In our experience (40) on 4 patients with end-stage dystrophinopathic cardiomyopathy (3 Becker patients and 1 with X-linked dilated cardiomyopathy), the outcomes were without complications both in the post-operative follow-up and in the long-term follow-up.

These experiences suggest that cardiac transplantation can be successfully performed in patients with muscular dystrophy in general and in patients with Steinert disease, who present a severe cardiomyopathy, provided that they have a preserved pulmonary function and a mild muscle impairment. However, reports on clinical outcomes of cardiac transplantation in patients with muscular dystrophies or extended follow-up periods are still rare and are advisable. At our knowledge, this the second case of heart transplantation, described in literature, in a patient with Steinert disease, after that reported by Conraads et al., in 2002 (44), with satisfactory short-term results.

This case report reinforces the increasing opinon that patients with muscular disorders should have the opportunity to access cardiac transplantation because of under-

Andrea Antonio Papa et al



Figure 2. Echocardiographic findings 3-month after heart transplantation. The apical view and M-mode scan of the left ventricle derived from two-dimensional parasternal long axis view show a normal ventricular cavitary diameters and ventricular systolic function.

lying myopathy, as long as there is a careful selection of patients especially with regard to muscle and respiratory function.

References

- Groh WJ, Groh MR, Saha C, et al. Electrocardiographic abnormalities and sudden death in myotonic dystrophy type 1. N Engl J Med 2008;358:2688-97
- Rakocevic Stojanovic V, Peric S, Paunic T, et al. Cardiologic predictors of sudden death in patients with myotonic dystrophy type 1. J Clin Neurosci 2013;20:1002-6
- Bhakta D, Groh MR, Shen C,, et al. Increased mortality with left ventricular systolic dysfunction and heart failure in adults with myotonic dystrophy type 1. Am Heart J 2010;160;1137-41
- Russo V, Papa AA, Nigro G. The Controversial epidemiology of left ventricular dysfunction in patients with myotonic dystrophy type 1. JAMA Cardiol 2017;2:1044.
- Russo V, Rago A, Papa AA, et al. Which is the true epidemiology of left ventricular dysfunction in patients with myotonic dystrophy type 1? J Chin Med Assoc 2017;80:740-1.
- Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: the task force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2016;37:2129-200.
- Lund LH, Edwards LB, Kucheryavaya A, et al; International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation. The Registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: thirtieth official adult heart transplant report – 2013;focus theme:age. J Heart Lung Transplant 2013;32:951-64.
- Nigro G, Papa AA, Politano L. The heart and cardiac pacing in Steinert disease. Acta Myol 2012;31:110-6.
- 9. Nigro G, Russo V, Politano L, et al. Right atrial appendage versus Bachmann's bundle stimulation:a two-year comparative study of

electrical parameters in myotonic dystrophy type-1 patients. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2009;32:1191-6.

- Nigro G, Russo V, Vergara P, et al. Optimal site for atrial lead implantation in myotonic dystrophy patients: the role of Bachmann's Bundle stimulation. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2008;31:1463-6.
- Russo V, Papa AA, Rago A, et al. Effect of dual-chamber minimal ventricular pacing on paroxysmal atrial fibrillation incidence in Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 patients: a prospective, randomized, single-blind, crossover study. Heart Rhythm 2018;15:962-8.
- Russo V, Rago A, Papa AA, et al. Bachmann bundle pacing reduces atrial electromechanical delay in type 1 myotonic dystrophy patients. J Interv Card Electrophysiol 2018;51:229-36.
- Russo V, Rago A, Papa AA, et al. Does a high percentage of right ventricular pacing influence the incidence of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation in Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 patients? Kardiol Pol 2013;71:1147-53.
- Nigro G, Russo V, Politano L, et al. Does Bachmann's bundle pacing prevent atrial fibrillation in Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 patients? A 12 months follow-up study. Europace 2010;12:1219-23.
- Russo V, Nigro G, Papa AA, et al. Far field R-wave sensing in Myotonic Dystrophy type 1: right atrial appendage versus Bachmann's bundle region lead placement. Acta Myol 2014;33:94-9.
- Russo V, Rago A, Politano L, et al. The effect of atrial preference pacing on paroxysmal atrial fibrillation incidence in Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 patients: a prospective, randomized, single-bind cross over study. Europace 2012;14:486-9.
- Nigro G, Russo V, Rago A, et al. Right atrial preference pacing algorithm in the prevention of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation in Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 patients: a long term follow-up study. Acta Myol 2012;31:139-43.
- Russo V, Nigro G, Rago A, et al. Atrial fibrillation burden in Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 patients implanted with dual chamber pacemaker: the efficacy of the overdrive atrial algorithm at 2 year follow-up. Acta Myol 2013;32:142-7.

Heart transplantation in a patient with Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 and end-stage dilated cardiomyopathy: a short term follow-up

- 19. Rago A, Papa AA, Arena G, et al. Complete resolution of left atrial appendage thrombosis with oral dabigatran etexilate in a patient with Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 and atrial fibrillation. Acta Myol 2017;36:218-22.
- Russo V, Papa AA, Rago A, et al. Interatrial block to predict atrial fibrillation in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Neuromuscul Disord 2018;28:327-33.
- Russo V, Rago A, Ciardiello C, et al. The role of the atrial electromechanical delay in predicting atrial fibrillation in Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 patients. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2016;27:65-72.
- 22. Russo V, Papa AA, Rago A, et al. Which is the true epidemiology of atrial fibrillation in Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 patients? Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2016;39:1418-9.
- Russo V, Rago A, Papa AA, et al. Voltage-directed cavo-tricuspid isthmus ablation using a novel ablation catheter mapping technology in a Myotonic Dystrophy type I patient. Acta Myol 2016;35:109-13.
- Russo V, Nigro G, Meo F, et al. The effect of atrial preference pacing on atrial fibrillation electrophysiological substrate in Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 population. Acta Myol 2014;33:127-5.
- 25. Russo V, Meo F, Rago A, et al. Paroxysmal atrial fibrillation in myotonic dystrophy type 1 patients: P wave duration and dispersion analysis. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2015;19:1241-8.
- Russo V, Rago A, Nigro G. Atrial electromechanical delay in Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 patients. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2015;19:3991-2.
- Russo V, Papa AA, Rago A, et al. Arrhythmic risk evaluation in Myotonic Dystrophy: the importance of selection criteria and methodological approach. Clin Auton Res. 2017;27:203-4.
- Russo V, Papa AA, Rago A, et al. Increased heterogeneity of ventricular repolarization in myotonic dystrophy type 1 population. Acta Myol 2016;35:100-6.
- Russo V, Rago A, Nigro G. Sudden cardiac death in neuromuscolar disorders: time to establish shared protocols for cardiac pacing. Int J Cardiol 2016;207:284-5.
- Russo V, Rago A, Meo F, et al. Ventricular fibrillation induced by coagulating mode bipolar electrocautery during pacemaker implantation in Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 patient. Acta Myol 2014;33:149-51.
- Proietti R, Labos C, Davis M, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the association between implantable cardioverter-defibrillator shocks and long-term mortality. Can J Cardiol 2015;31:270-7.

- 32. Russo V, Politano L, Nigro G. Role of electrophysiological evaluation for the best device choice to prevent sudden cardiac death in patients with Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1 and Emery Dreifuss Muscular Dystrophy. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2017 Feb 5. pii:S1050-1738(17)30013-0. [Epub ahead of print]
- Russo V, Papa AA, Williams EA, et al. ACE inhibition to slow progression of myocardial fibrosis in muscular dystrophies. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2018;28:330-7.
- Russo V, Rago A, D'Andrea A, et al. Early onset "electrical" heart failure in Myotonic Dystrophy type 1 patient: the role of ICD biventricular pacing. Anadolu Kardiyol Derg 2012;12:517-9.
- Russo V, Rago A, Papa AA, et al. Cardiac resynchronization improves heart failure in one patient with Myotonic Dystrophy type 1. A case report. Acta Myol 2012;31:154-5.
- Muto C, Solimene F, Russo V, et al. Optimal left ventricular lead placement for cardiac resynchronization therapy in postmyocardial infarction patients. Future Cardiol 2018;14:215-24.
- Papa AA, Rago A, Petillo R, et al. Is the epicardial left ventricular lead implantation an alternative appoach to percutaneous attempt in patients with Steinert disease? A case report. Acta Myol 2017;36:213-7
- Wei J, Chang CY, Chuang JC, et al. Updates in heart transplantation. Transplant Proc 2008;40:2594-6.
- Anthuber M, Kemkes BM, Schuetz A, et al. Heart transplantation in patients with "so-called" contraindications. Transplant Proc 1990;22:1451.
- Papa AA, D'Ambrosio P, Petillo R, et al. Heart transplantation in patients with dystrophinopathic cardiomyopathy: review of the literature and personal series. Intractable Rare Dis Res 2017;6:95-101.
- Steger CM, Höfer D, Antretterl H. Cardiac manifestation in muscular dystrophies leading to heart transplantation. Eur Surg 2013;45:245-50.
- Cripe L, Kinnett K, Uzark K, et al. Cardiac transplantation in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a case report. Neuromuscul Disord 2011;21:645.
- Rees W, Schuler S, Hummel M, et al. Heart transplantation in patients with muscular dystrophy associated with end-stage cardiomyopathy. J Heart Lung Transplant 1993;12:804-7.
- Conraads VM, Beckers PJ, Vorlat A, et al. Importance of physical rehabilitation before and after cardiac transplantation in a patient with Myotonic Dystrophy: a case report. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2002;83:724-6.

Therapeutic approach with Ataluren in Duchenne symptomatic carriers with nonsense mutations in dystrophin gene. Results of a 9-month follow-up in a case report

PAOLA D'AMBROSIO¹, CHIARA ORSINI¹, VINCENZO NIGRO² AND LUISA POLITANO¹

¹ Cardiomyology and Medical Genetics, Department of Experimental Medicine, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Naples, Italy; ² Laboratory of Medical Genetics, Department of Precision's Medicine, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Naples, Italy

Duchenne muscular Dystrophy (DMD) is a X-linked degenerative disorder affecting skeletal muscles and myocardium caused by mutations in the dystrophin gene, mainly deletions and duplications. Point-mutations account for 13% and stop codon mutations are even more unfrequent. A drug treatment for patients with DMD caused by stop codon gene mutations and still ambulant, has become recently available, based on the clear demonstration of its efficacy in slowing the course of the disease. The drug is able to read through the stop codon; furthermore it has the advantage of an oral administration and a better patient's compliance. We report a case of a still ambulant 27 year-old DMD symptomatic carrier with a stop-codon mutation in exon 53 (c.7792C > T; p.Gln2598Stop), who started the treatment with Ataluren at a dosage of 2,250 mg/die, reporting a prompt subjective improvement in muscle strength. Unfortunately two months after, the patient discontinued taking the drug for a traumatic femur fracture requiring surgical repair and prolonged rehabilitation. With the resumption of the drug intake in February 2018, the patient reported almost immediately an improvement in motor skills, including the possibility of recovering walking, first with support and then unsupported. These results seem even more encouraging, as Duchenne patients hardly recover the ability to walk following a fracture at this age and extend the possibility to treat with ataluren also the symptomatic Duchenne carriers who have nonsense dystrophin gene mutations. Furthermore the case here reported supports the concept that symptomatic DMD female carriers must enjoy the same therapeutic opportunities offered to males.

Key words: Duchenne dystrophy, symptomatic DMD carriers, Ataluren

Introduction

Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is the most frequent muscle disorder in childhood, characterized by

progressive muscle wasting and weakness, leading to the loss of ambulation usually about the age of 12 years. It is caused by mutations in the dystrophin gene, encoding the protein dystrophin. The most part of mutations are deletions (75%) followed by duplications (15-20%) and point mutations (5-10%). Among the latter the nonsense mutations are even rarer. Dystrophyn plays a critical role in maintaining the sarcolemmal stability during muscle contraction.

Treatment options for DMD have been widely explored over the past 30 years. Steroids are considered standard care for DMD patients and have demonstrated evident benefits to patients by increasing muscle strength, reducing muscle fibrosis and inflammation (1). However several side-effects have been reported in the literature, whose severity often depends on the type of steroid used (prednisone vs deflazacort) (2). Several approaches aimed at restoring dystrophin expression have been recently reported with promising results. They include gene replacement through the use of viral and nonviral approaches (3, 4), overexpression of utrophin that was proposed to act as a surrogate to compensate for the lack of dystrophin (5) with promising results also in humans (6), and strategies to ameliorate symptoms by increasing muscle strength, reducing muscle fibrosis, and decreasing inflammation. Although promising, these strategies can only improve the quality of life of patients and delay the disease progression.

In recent years, great emphasis has been placed on the discovery of pharmacological approaches able to restore normal, full-length dystrophin and potentially

Address for correspondence: Luisa Politano, Cardiomyology and Medical Genetics, Department of Experimental Medicine, I Policlinico, piazza Miraglia, 80138 Napoli. E-mail: luisa.politano@unicampania.it

reverse the course of the disease. Read-through (RT) of nonsense mutations, thank to its ability to bypass the premature stop codon and to act on virtually any region of the dystrophin gene, independently of the location in which the mutation resides, is one of these approaches.

The ability of certain antibiotics to suppress PTCs in eukaryotic cells has been known since the early 1990s (7).

In 2003 our work group reported the results (8) with gentamicine treatment in 4 Duchenne patients, with point mutations resulting in premature stop codons, still ambulant or in wheelchair stage for less than 4 months. Skeletal muscle changes were monitored by dynamic tests and Creatine Kinase (CK) values; at the beginning and end of treatment, cardiac and respiratory status were evaluated by electrocardiography, echocardiography, acoustic densitometry and vital capacity. Three out of four patients, who had the most permissive UGA as stop codon, showed positive results; in one patient – the youngest among them – there was a dramatic re-expression of dystrophin by both immuno-histochemistry and Western blot.

Recently a new drug, derivative of aminoglycosides has been developed by PTC Therapeutics. It is *Ataluren*, a novel, orally administered small-molecule compound approved within the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway, Israel and South Korea under the trade name TranslarnaTM to treat patients with DMD still ambulant, aged 5 years and older. Ataluren interacts with the ribosome, which is the component of the cell that decodes the mRNA molecule and manufactures proteins, enabling it to read through premature nonsense stop signals on mRNA and allow the cell to produce a full-length, functional protein.

In 2017, a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial (9) was carried out at 54 sites in 18 countries located in North America, Europe, the Asia-Pacific region, and Latin America. Boys aged 7-16 years with nonsense mutation DMD (nmDMD) and a baseline 6-minute walk distance (6MWD) of 150m or more and 80% or less of the predicted normal value for age and height were randomly assigned (1:1), to receive ataluren orally three times daily (40 mg/kg per day) or matching placebo. Randomisation was stratified by age (<9 years $vs \ge 9$ years), duration of previous corticosteroid use (6 months to < 12 months $vs \ge 12$ months), and baseline 6MWD (< 350 m $vs \ge 350$ m). The primary endpoint was change in 6MWD from baseline to week 48.

The results showed that 6MWD values did not differ significantly between patients in the ataluren group compared to the placebo group. However, a significant effect of ataluren was observed in the subgroup of patients with a baseline 6MWD between 300 and 400 m. Furthermore patients in the ataluren group had a less decline in physical function compared with patients in the placebo group, as measured by the timed function tests after 48 weeks of treatment, though only the four-stair descend was statistically significant.

These results encouraged clinicians to extend the treatment with Ataluren also in DMD non ambulant patients. Ebrahimi-Fakhari et al. (10) reported their experience in 4 non-ambulatory nmDMD patients, routinely investigated by cardiac function, pulmonary function tests and muscle strength. Mean age at loss of ambulation was 10.1 ± 0.5 years, mean age when initiating Ataluren treatment 14.1 ± 1.4 years. They compared changes in left ventricular fractional shortening, forced volume vital capacity and BMI from two defined time periods (18-26-month period prior to and after Ataluren start). They concluded that serial echocardiography, pulmonary lung function tests, and assessment of muscle strength indicated mild attenuation of disease progression after initiation of Ataluren treatment in all DMD patients.

DMD female carriers are usually asymptomatic. However, 2.5-7.8% of them may present muscle symptoms and/or cardiomyopathy, due to the reduced synthesis of dystrophin. Several pathogenic mechanisms have been suggested to explain the onset of symptoms in female carriers, the most frequent among them is a skewed X- chromosome inactivation with percentages of silencing the X-chromosome carrying the wild allele from 85 to 100%.

We decided to assess the response to the treatment with Ataluren in a symptomatic DMD female carrier sharing a non sense mutation in dystrophin gene.

Case report

We report the case of a DMD manifesting carrier aged 26 years and still ambulant, who received ataluren in the last 9 months. She came at our observation when she was 12 years old. The mother reported a first medical evaluation when she was 18 months old for delay in motor milestones and very high CK levels (11.000 U/L vs 195 U/L). Muscle biopsy revealed a mosaic pattern of dystrophin with marked reduction/absence of dystrophin in most fibers, alternating with others with normal protein expression. PCR molecular analysis did not reveal any deletion/duplication, confirmed by MLPA testing. The Xchromosome inactivation analysis was not informative. The patient was treated with deflazacort and anti-oxidant drugs (Vitamin C, Vitamine E, Ubiquinone) since the age of 12, with a slight deterioration in muscle strength; at the age of 25 year she was still able to walk, but she had lost the ability to to get up from the floor at the age of 10 years. In 2016 the NGS analysis identified the causative mutation of the disease in a stop-codon (p.Gln2598Stop) at exon 53 of the dystrophin gene, so in October 2017, at

Paola D'Ambrosio et al.

NSAA	6MWT	PUL
Baseline	100 meters	55/80
Baseline (after fracture)	Unable to walk	52/80
12 weeks of treatment	76 meters	55/80
	(with support)	
24 weeks of treatment	52 meters	56/80
	(without support)	
36 weeks of treatment	55 meters	56/80
	(without support)	

Table 1. Results of dynamic test pre and post-treatment with Ataluren.

the age of 25 years 6 months, she was elected for treatment with Ataluren, at a dosage of 2250 mg/die, soon reporting a subjective well-being and a strength improvement. In December 2017 the patient, due a traumatic femur breaking surgically corrected, was forced to discontinue the drug for 2 months. With the resumption of the drug intake in February 2018, the patient reported almost immediately an improvement in motor skills, including the possibility of recovering walking, first with support and then unsupported. The results of the dynamic tests – North Star (NSAA), 6 Minute Walking Test (6MWT) and Power – Upper-Limbs (PUL), performed before treatment and at three-month intervals are shown in Table 1. No change in cardiac function and respiratory tests was appreciated between baseline and 9 month evaluation.

Discussion

Data here reported – though preliminary and limited to only one patient – suggest that treatment with Ataluren can be of benefit in older patients with DMD and should be extended to symptomatic DMD female carriers to. In our case, the results are even more encouraging as Duchenne patients hardly recover the ability to walk after a fracture at this age. In fact, after 36 weeks of treatment, our patient recovered the motor skill before the accident, and refers a greater autonomy in daily life, confirmed by the INQoL test. These results also extend the possibility to treat with ataluren the symptomatic Duchenne female carriers, presenting nonsense dystrophin gene mutations.

Acknowledgements

Biological samples used in this report are from the Naples Human Mutation Genetic Biobank (NHMGB) that is partner of the Telethon Network of Genetic Biobanks (TNGB) and Eurobiobank (EBB).

References

- Matthews E, Brassington R, Kuntzer T, et al. Corticosteroids for the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016;5:CD003725.
- Shieh PB, Mcintosh J, Jin F, et al. Deflazacort versus prednisolone/ prednisolone for maintaining motor function and delaying loss of ambulation: a post HOC analysis from the ACT DMD trial. Muscle Nerve 2018;58:639-45.
- Scott JM, Li S, Harper SQ, et al. Viral vectors for gene transfer of micro-, mini-, or full-length dystrophin. Neuromuscul Disord 2002;12(Suppl 1):S23-S9.
- Gregorevic P, Blankinship MJ, Allen JM, et al. Systemic delivery of genes to striated muscles using adeno-associated viral vectors. Nat Med 2004;10:828-34.
- Wakefield PM, Tinsley JM, Wood MJ, et al. Prevention of the dystrophic phenotype in dystrophin/utrophin-deficient muscle following adenovirus-mediated transfer of a utrophin minigene. Gene Ther 2000;7:201-4.
- Tinsley J, Robinson N, Wilson FX, et al. Future clinical and biomarker development for SMTC1100, the first utrophin modulator to enter clinical trials for Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD). Neuromuscular Disord 2013;23:813.
- Barton-Davis ER, Cordier L, Shoturma DI, et al. Aminoglycoside antibiotics restore dystrophin function to skeletal muscles of mdx mice. J Clin Invest 1999;104:375-81.
- Politano L, Nigro G, Nigro V, et al. Gentamicin administration in Duchenne patients with premature stop codon. Preliminary results. Acta Myol 2003;22:15-21.
- McDonald CM, Campbell C, Torricelli RE, et al. Ataluren in patients with nonsense mutation Duchenne muscular dystrophy (ACT DMD): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2017;390:1489-98.
- Ebrahimi-Fakhari D, Dillmann U, Flotats-Bastardas M, et al. Off-Label use of ataluren in four non-ambulatory patients with nonsense mutation Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy: effects on cardiac and pulmonary function and muscle strength. Front Pediatr 2018;6:316.

NEWS FROM AROUND THE WORLD

AIM

The XIX congress of the Italian Association of Myology will be held in Bergamo from 5 to 9 June 2019, organised by dr. Angela Berardinelli. The Congress will be preceded by a satellite Symposium entitled: *Physical exercise: pros and cons for taking care of myopathic patients*. Those interested will find the program and the registration form at the end of the "forthcoming meetings" section. All the readers are welcome.

MSM

The 14th Meeting of the Mediterranean Society of Myology (MSM) will be held in 2020.

WMS

The 24th annual congress of the World Muscle Society will be held in the heart of Copenhagen in the old Tivoli

Garden Concert Hall and adjoining buildings. Join WMS for the networking reception to be held on Tuesday 1st October in the theatre, Det Ny Teater, located a 5-minute walk from Tivoli gardens. This will follow the long tradition of WMS to facilitate networking and catch up on the latest developments in myology around the world during this 4-day meeting.

Contributions about new advances across the neuromuscular field are very welcome. The main thematic topics that will be addressed in the plenary sessions will be:

- 1. Metabolic disturbances in neuromuscular diseases.
- 2. Extra-muscular manifestations in neuromuscular diseases.
- Advances in the treatment of neuromuscular disorders. Early bird registration is before Wednesday 8th May 2019 (midnight GMT).

As usual, the meeting will be preceded by a teaching course, which will be held in Copenhagen on September 30^{th} and October 1^{st} 2019.

FORTHCOMING MEETINGS

2019

February 5-6

Biospecimen Reasearch Symposium. Berlin, Germany. Information: website: *www.isber.org*

March 6-8

Advances in skeletal muscle biology in health and disease, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, US. Information: website: http://myology.institute.ufl.edu/conferences/muscle-biology-conference

March 25-28

Myology 2019 AFM-Téléthon Scientific Congress in Myology, Bordeaux, France. Information: website: http://www.afm-telethon.com

April 4-5

11th Annual Neuromuscular Translational Research Conference, Newcastle, UK. Information: website: *http://www.ucl.ac.uk/cnmd/events*

May 4-10

American Academy of Neurology, 71st Annual Meeting, Philadelphia,PA, US. Information: website: *https://www.aan.com/conferences-community/upcoming-conference-dates*

May 7-10

ISBER 2019. Shangai, China. Information: website: www. isber.org

May 8-11

Heart Rhythm 40th Annual Scientific Sessions (HRS). Chicago, IL. Information: website: *http://www. hrssessions.org*

May 15-17

Annual Meeting of the French Society for Extracellular Matrix Biology. Reims, France. Information: *www.univreims.eu;* comnco@comnconews.com

June 6

Physical exercise: pros and cons for taking care of myopathic patients. Satellite Symposiun of the 19th Annual Meeting of the Italian Association of Myology. Pavia, Italy. Information: website: *www.fclassevents.com*

June 6-8

19th annual Meeting of the Italian Association of Myology - Bergamo, Italy. Information: website: *www.fclassevents. com*

June 15-18

The European Human Genetics Conference 2019. Gothenburg, Sweden. Information: *conference@eshg.org*

June 29 - July 2

European Academy of Neurology, 5th Congress, Oslo, Norway.Information: website: *https://www.ean.org/ oslo2019/5th-Congress-of-the-European-Academy-of-Neurology-Oslo-2019.3649.0.html*

September 24-28

24th Congress of World Muscle Society. Copenhagen, Denmark. Information: website: *www. worldmusclesociety.org*

October 22-26

ASHG Annual Meeting. Toronto, Canada. Information: website: *www.ashg.org*

October 24-27

Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society (APHRS). Bangkok, Thailand. Information: website: *http://www.aphrs.org*

November 13-15

Third International Conference on Genomic Medicine (GeneMed-2019) in Baltimore, USA Information: website: http://unitedscientificgroup.com/conferences/genemed

2020

April 25 - May 1

American Academy of Neurology, 72nd Annual Meeting. Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

Information: website: https://www.aan.com/conferencescommunity/upcoming-conference-dates/

June 6-9

The European Human Genetics Conference 2020, Berlin, Germany. Information: *conference@eshg.org*

September 30 - October 4

25th Congress of World Muscle Society. Toronto, Canada. Information: website: www.worldmusclesociety.org

October 27-31

ASHG Annual Meeting. San Diego, CA,USA. Information: website: *www.ashg.org*

2021

September 21-25

26th Congress of World Muscle Society. Prague, Czech Republic, Information: website: *www.worldmusclesociety. org*





Organizing Committee:

Prof. G. D'Antona

Department of Public Health, Experimental and Forensic Medicine and Sport Medicine Centre, Voghera - University of Pavia (Italy)

Dr.ssa A. Berardinelli IRCCS Mondino Foundation, Pavia

Sede Congressuale: Fondazione Mondino

Via C. Mondino, 2 - 27100 Pavia

Modalità di iscrizione:

Per effettuare l'iscrizione si prega di inviare una email di richiesta alla Segreteria Organizzativa: elena.falciola@fclassevents.com Nella richiesta si prega di indicare: nome, cognome, recapito telefonico, ente di lavoro e specializzazione. Quota d'iscrizione: Soci AIM – gratuita Specializzandi - gratuita NON Soci AIM - Euro 40,00 (iva 22% inclusa)



In fase di accreditamento ECM

Segreteria Organizzativa - Provider ECM



First Class S.r.I. Meetings and Conferences Viale Italia, 173 - 57127 Livorno Ph: +39 0586 84 98 04 - Fax: + 39 0586 34 99 20 elena.falciola@fclassevents.com - www.fclassevents.com





Physical exercise: pros and cons for taking care of myopathic patients



Pavia, 5 Giugno 2019









VOLUME XXXVII - CONTENTS

Issue N. 1 • March 2018

EDITORIAL

Luisa Politano 1

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

SIGMAR1 gene mutation causing Distal Hereditary Motor Neuropathy in a Portuguese family

Luciano José Almendra Frias Vieira, Francisco Eduardo Da Rocha Laranjeira and Luís Jorge Mendonça Peres Negrão... 2

CASE REPORT

PROCEEDINGS OF THE XVIII CONGRESS OF THE ITALIAN ASSOCIATION OF MYOLOGY

Genoa, Italy – June 6-9, 2017

Scientific Programme
Abstracts of invited lectures 3
Abstracts of oral communications 4
Muscle Club Session 5
Abstracts of poster communications 6
Informazioni Scientifiche

NEWS FROM AROUND THE WORLD

A <i>IM</i>	98
MSM	98
WMS	98
FORTHCOMING MEETINGS	99
Instructions for Authors	116

Issue N. 2 • June 2018

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

Novel mosaic mutation in the dystrophin gene causing distal asymmetric muscle weakness of the upper limbs and dilated cardiomyopathy

PROCEEDINGS OF THE XIII CONGRESS OF MEDI-TERRANEAN SOCIETY OF MYOLOGY

Avanos, Turkey - June 27-29, 2018

Scientific Programme
Abstracts of invited lectures
Abstracts of oral communications 154
Abstracts of poster communications
Author Index

NEWS FROM AROUND THE WORLD

AIM	188
<i>MSM</i>	188
WMS	188
FORTHCOMING MEETINGS	189
Instructions for Authors	192

Issue N. 3 • September 2018

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

Kir2.2 p.Thr140Met: a genetic susceptibility to sporadic periodic paralysis

Prevalence of metabolic syndrome and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in a cohort of Italian patients with spinal-bulbar muscular atrophy Francesco Francini-Pesenti, Giorgia Querin, Cristina Martini,

Sara Mareso and David Sacerdoti 204

Childhood onset limb-girdle muscular dystrophies in Aegean part of Turkey

Volume XXXVII - Contents

CASE REPORT

CASE REPORT	Immune-mediated necrotizing myopathy due to statins	
Myotonic dystrophy type 1 and pulmonary embolism: successful thrombus resolution with dabigatran etexilate therapy Emanuele Gallinoro, Andrea Antonio Papa, Anna Rago, Simona	Luisa Villa, Alberto Lerario, Sonia Calloni, Lorenzo Peverelli, Caterina Matinat, Federica de Liso, Ferruccio Ceriotti, Roberto Tironi, Monica Sciacco, Maurizio Moggio, Fabio Triulzi and Claudia Cinnante	
Sperlongano, Antonio Cassese, Nadia Della Cioppa, Maria Cristina Giada Magliocca, Giovanni Cimmino, Paolo Golino	Novel desmoplakin mutations in familial Carvajal syndrome Danat Yermakovich, Larysa Sivitskaya, Tatiyana Vaikhanskaya,	
OBITUARY	Nina Danilenko and Iryna Motuk	
Professor Frank Lehmann-Horn (1948-2018)	CASE REPORTS	
Reinhardt Rüdel 227	 Heart Transplantation in a patient with Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1 and end-stage dilated cardiomyopathy: a short term follow-up Andrea Antonio Papa, Federica Verrillo, Marianna Scutifero, Anna Rago, Salvatore Morra, Antonio Cassese, Nadia Della Cioppa, Maria Cristina Giada Magliocca, Dario Galante, Alberto Palladino, Paolo Golino and Luisa Politano	
NEWS FROM AROUND THE WORLD		
<i>AIM</i>		
<i>MSM</i>		
<i>WMS</i>		
FORTHCOMING MEETINGS 236		
Instructions for Authors	<i>case report</i> Paola D'Ambrosio, Chiara Orsini, Vincenzo Nigro and Luisa Politano	
Issue N. 4 • December 2018	NEWS FROM AROUND THE WORLD	
	AIM	
ORIGINAL ARTICLES	MSM	
The role of rehabilitation in the management of late-onset Pompe disease: a narrative review	<i>WMS</i>	
Giovanni Iolascon, Michele Vitacca, Elena Carraro, Carmelo Chisari, Pietro Fiore, Sonia Messina, Tiziana Enrica Giovanna Mongini, Valeria A. Sansone, Antonio Toscano, Gabriele	FORTHCOMING MEETINGS	
Siciliano, on behalf of AIM (Italian Association of Myology), AIPO (Italian Association of Hospital Pulmonologists), SIRN	Volume XXXVII - CONTENTS	
(Italian Society of Neurorehabilitation), and SIMFER (Italian Society of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation) 241	Volume XXXVII - AUTHOR INDEX	
Metabolic impairments in patients with myotonic dystrophy type 2	Volume XXXVII - SUBJECT INDEX	
Milorad Vuinic Stojan Peric Zelika Calic Natasa Benovic Tanja	Volume XXXVII - LIST OF REFEREES CONSULTED IN 2018. 292	

Milorad Vujnic, Stojan Peric, Zeljka Calic, Natasa Benovic, Tanja Nisic, Jovan Pesovic, Dusanka Savic-Pavicevic and Vidosava

VOLUME XXXVII - AUTHOR INDEX

A

Abassova G., 160 Abou-Al-Shaar H., 221 Akalin E., 169, 183 Akarsu E.O., 161, 168, 170, 175 Akçay D., 154 Akcil E.F., 177 Akelma H., 177 Akinci G., 159, 210 Akkurt L., 181 Aksoy A., 162, 172 Aksoy E., 168, 172 Aksoy H.U., 159 Aktan G., 210 Al-Hindi H.N., 221 Al-Khalidi R., 53 Alaimo S., 65 Albamonte E., 49, 53, 73, 77,83 Alçi M., 178 Aldemir E.S., 174 Alemdar M., 161, 168, 175 Alfawaz S., 221 Alì G., 59, 85 Alikasifoglu M., 163 Allegorico L., 64 Almendra Frias Vieira L.J., 2 Altamura C., 69, 73, 81 Altinok G., 180, 181 Altunbaşak Ş., 164, 165 Amabile S., 158 Amati A., 53 Ambati J., 53 Ambati K., 53 Ambrosi A., 56 Angela A., 72 Angelini C., 52, 54, 55, 58, 75, 79, 149 Angheben A., 78 Anlar B., 166, 170 Anna L., 72 Annunziata A., 158 Ansone V.A., 69 Antonaci L., 60, 80 Antonini G., 46, 57, 59 Aquaro G.D., 82 Aran O.T., 182 Ardicli D., 156, 166 Ardissone A., 86 Argov Z., 149 Arican P., 163 Arkle S., 53 Armaroli A., 47 Armstrong G., 61, 66, 75 Arrigo R., 48, 49, 78 Arslan E.A., 169, 179 Aslan M., 166, 173, 175, 180, 182

Assereto S., 39 Astrea G., 47, 49, 60, 68, 74, 77, 82, 85, 89 Auvinen P., 83 Avanti C., 70 Ayça S., 159 Aydin G., 181, 182 Ayvat E., 182

B

Baba A., 79 Bagnato M.R., 76 Baldacci J., 52, 76, 77, 88 Baldanzi A., 82 Baldanzi S., 55, 60, 85 Baldassari S., 39 Baldelli E., 48, 61 Baldinotti F., 59, 82, 85 Balottin U., 82 Bandettini R., 68 Baranello G., 35, 49, 61, 75 Baratto S., 39, 87 Barbone F., 62, 86 Barison A., 59 Barresi R., 78, 149 Bassez G., 35 Battezzati A., 35 Battini R., 68, 74 Baydan F., 175, 176, 183 Bayrakci U.S., 174 Bayram E., 161, 167, 169, 210 Baysal B.T., 159, 163 Bazancir Z., 180, 182 Becker K., 175 Beggs A.H., 156 Bektaş Ö., 160 Bellacchio E., 66, 69 Bello L., 49, 51, 57, 62, 63, 71, 77, 82, 88 Benedetti L., 65, 67 Benedetti S., 47, 59 Bengtsson N., 35 Benovic N., 252 Bentivogli M., 79 Berardinelli A., 47, 49, 82 Bergauer T., 66 Bernardini S., 86 Bernardo D., 81 Bernasconi P., 40, 69, 73, 83 Beronio A., 65 Berti B., 69 Berti G., 79 Bertini E.S., 47, 49, 53, 58, 59, 66, 69, 71, 77, 86, 87,89 Bertoli S., 35 Beşen Ş., 164 Bettica P., 51

Beuvin M., 46 Bevilacqua J., 46 Bharucha-Goebel D.X., 57 Bianchini E., 152 Bicciato S., 52 Bilgin N., 179 Bişgin A., 165 Biskup S., 193 Bobeica E., 70, 71 Boccone L., 77 Bohlega M.S., 221 Bohlega S.A., 221 Bohm J., 47 Bombardieri L., 71 Bonaldo P., 56 Bonanno C., 62 Bonne G., 150 Bora G., 154 Bordoni A., 78 Bordugo A., 74 Borgione E., 77 Borlenghi E., 61 Bortolani S., 58, 89 Bortolotti C., 59 Boschi S., 58 Bosè F., 70, 82 Botta A., 85 Bovis F., 60 Bözgör B., 182 Bozoglu T., 121 Bozzetti S., 63 Bozzoni V., 63 Bracci Laudiero L., 75 Brajkovic S., 73 Bravver E., 57 Bresolin N., 51, 88 Brigati G., 63, 66, 71 Brigonzi E., 82 Brizzi T., 48, 62, 64, 69 Brocard J., 46 Brochier G., 46, 47, 59 Broda P., 46, 87 Brugnoni R., 73, 83 Brunn A., 121 Bruno C., 39, 46, 49, 53, 63, 66, 68, 70, 71, 72, 76, 77,87 Bruno G., 64 Brusa R., 51, 88 Bruzzone S., 39 Bucci E., 57, 59, 87 Buchbjerg J., 75 Bulut N., 182 Bushby K., 57

С

Cabona C., 65 Calì Cassi L., 59, 85 Calic Z., 252 Caligo M.A., 59 Calloni S., 257 Cam S., 159 Camerino G.M., 65, 73 Camilot M., 74 Campbell C., 173 Campione E., 85 Canapicchi R., 83 Canpolat M., 178 Cansu A., 179 Canti V., 56 Capitanio D., 52 Cappellari O., 40, 44 Capra V., 84 Caramori S.G., 49 Carboni N., 47 Cardani R., 70, 82 Carelli V., 86 Caria F., 48, 56, 61 Carlino R., 86 Çarman K.B., 156, 160, 162 Carnicella S., 69 Carotti M., 152, 155 Carraro E., 73, 83, 241 Carratù M.R., 69, 81 Carrozzo R., 81 Casiraghi J., 73 Cassandrini D., 60, 79, 87, 88 Cassese A., 5, 227, 267 Castori M., 77 Catanzaro S., 65 Catteruccia M., 53, 58, 66 Cau M., 77 Cava M., 56 Cavalli M., 70 Çavdarli B., 162 Cavusoglu D., 162, 163 Cazzaniga S., 51 Cecchi P., 55 Cecconi A., 47 Çelebi H.B.G., 159 Cenacchi G., 52, 59, 63 Ceriotti F., 257 Cescon M., 56 Ceylan A.C., 169, 179 Chamberlain J.R., 35 Chamberlain J.S., 35 Chartner V., 47 Chiadò-Piat L., 58 Chico L., 59, 85 Chira N., 53 Chiriboga C., 66 Chisari C., 241 Cimmino G., 227 Cinnante C., 51, 73, 88, 257 Cintoni M., 80 Cioni G., 74, 121, 161, 167, 175.210 Ciranni A., 48, 78 Claus P., 154

Volume XXXVII - Author index

Cleary Y., 61, 66, 75 Coirault C., 36 Colacicco G., 81 Collotta A.D., 65 Colombo B., 59 Colombo M., 56 Comi G.P., 36, 49, 51, 71, 73, 74, 77, 78, 80, 85, 88, 150 Conte Camerino D., 69 Conte D., 73, 81 Conte E., 65, 73 Contestabile V., 158 Coratti G., 60, 80 Corricelli M., 79 Corti S., 36, 51, 73, 88 Cosini C., 85 Cosottini M., 55 Costa R., 52, 59, 63 Cotti Piccinelli S., 48, 56, 61 Cox P., 53 Cravero A., 74 Crudele J., 35 Cuccagna C., 81 Cudia P., 79 Czech C., 61, 75

D

D'Abbicco D., 53 D'Ambrosio P., 66, 67, 171, 272 D'Amico A., 37, 47, 49, 53, 58, 66, 69, 71, 73, 77, 89 D'Amore F., 68, 77, 83 D'Angelo M.G., 49, 51, 59, 71 Da Rocha Laranjeira F.E., 2 Daimagüler H.S., 121, 161, 175 Danese A., 79 Danilenko N., 263 Daniotti M., 68 Danyeli A.E., 210 Darras B., 60, 61 Day J.W., 57, 60, 61 Dazzi F., 46 De Amicis R., 35 De Antonio M., 35 De Bellis M., 65 De Benedetti F., 75 De Cobelli F., 56 De Cosmo L., 72 De Fino C., 50 de Liso F., 257 De Lorenzo R., 56 De Luca A., 65 De Luca C., 158 De Luca F., 78 De Marco P., 84 De Mattia E., 49, 67 De Rosa A., 84 De Rosa G., 69 De Sanctis R., 60, 69 De Vivo D.C., 60

Deconinck N., 61 Dedeoğlu Ö.T., 162, 165, 168 Degirmenci B., 162 Del Bo R., 77, 80 Della Cioppa N., 227, 267 Demichelis C., 67 Demir O.O., 179 Demiryürek B.E., 176 Desaphy J.F., 37, 69, 73, 81 Di Donato I., 79 Di Iorio G., 64 Di Muzio A., 62, 86 Di Pasquale A., 57, 59 Di Rocco M., 87 Di Stefano V., 62 Di Vito L., 86 Diana M., 68 Diaz-Manera J., 57, 150 Dickson G., 51, 54 Dikici A., 168, 169, 180, 183 Dilber B., 179 Dilber E., 179 Dilek B., 169, 183 Dilena R., 88 Diniz A.G., 159, 175 Diodato D., 86 Direk M., 165 Dobrowolny G., 65 Doccini S., 83, 87, 88 Dogan C., 35 Doglio L., 76 Domingos J., 51, 54, 155 Donati A., 46, 47 Donati M.A., 68, 76, 87 Dosi C., 68 Dotti M.T., 79 Duchen M.R., 44 Dugar A., 50 Dunaway Young S., 60 Dundar N.O., 163 Duong T., 60, 62

E

Eabrook T., 61 Edizer S., 159, 163 Eglon G., 78 Elfring G.L., 172 Elmas M., 162 Emdin M., 82 Eminoğlu F.T., 160 Engin O., 169 Enrica T., 241 Erdem-Yurter H., 154 Erdoğan B., 156 Erdoğan M., 178 Eriş D., 171 Eroğlu N., 166, 167 Erol I., 164 Ertugrul N.G.E., 163, 170 Eschenhagen T., 44 Esendağli G., 154 Evangelista T., 37, 70

F

Fabbri S., 65, 72 Fabris M., 77 Fagiolari G., 80, 88 Falcier E., 67 Falsaperla R., 46, 65 Falzarano M.S., 52, 77, 84 Fan C., 193 Fang M., 52 Faraone C., 55 Fardeau M., 47 Farinato A., 69 Fattori F., 58, 59, 66, 69, 87 Fazio R., 56 Fecchio C., 152, 155 Feng L., 47 Ferlini A., 38, 47, 52, 56, 63, 70, 77, 84 Fernández-Marmiesse A., 117 Fernandez-Torron R., 57, 150 Ferrante C., 62 Ferrantini G., 69 Ferrari A.R., 83 Ferrari G., 44 Ferrari N., 70 Ferrari S., 78 Ferretti M., 70, 71 Ferri L., 68 Festa S., 77 Ficili S., 87 Filosto M., 38, 42, 48, 51, 56, 61, 69, 86 Fini S., 84 Fink G.R., 121 Finkel R.S., 60 Fionda L., 57 Fiore P., 241 Fiorentino G., 158 Fiorillo C., 39, 46, 47, 52, 60, 63, 65, 66, 68, 72, 75, 77, 84,87 Fischer D., 66 Fiumara A., 69 Florio F., 82 Fontana L., 85 Fonzino A., 65, 81 Foppiani A., 35 Forcina N., 60, 69, 80 Fortunato F., 70, 77, 78 Fossati B., 70, 82 Fragiotta G., 57 Francesco G., 72 Francini-Pesenti F., 39, 204 Frank D.E., 51, 54 Frezza E., 86 Frosini S., 60, 74 Fusto A., 71

G

Gaeta M., 49, 64 Gagliardi D., 73

Gal A., 47 Galante D., 5, 267 Galimberti V., 71, 80 Gallinoro E., 227 Gallizzi R., 78 Gallo Cassarino S., 48, 56, 61 Galvagni A., 48 Gandolfo C., 71 Gandossini S., 49, 51 Garibaldi M., 46, 54, 57, 59, 87 Gasbarrini A., 80 Gazzerro E., 39, 46, 53, 87 Gelblin K., 61 Gelfi C., 52 Gemelli C., 65, 72 Genç H.M., 174, 176 Gencpinar P., 163 Genova C., 67 Gerber M., 61, 66, 75 Ghezzi D., 47 Giannini M., 53 Giannoni A., 82 Giannotta M., 42 Giaquinto E., 35 Giardina E., 77 Giaretta L., 52, 79 Gibertini S., 72, 83 Giliani S., 48 Giorgi C., 79 Girolamo F., 53 Glanzman A.M., 60 Gocmen R., 170 Goemans N., 75 Gogus B., 162 Göktaş Ö.A., 160 Golino P., 5, 227, 267 Gordish-Dressman H., 50, 62 Górecki D.C., 53 Gorni K., 61, 66, 75 Gotti E., 73 Govi M., 89 Govoni A., 51, 73, 88 Gragnani F., 54 Granata G., 80 Grandi C., 73 Grandis M., 65, 67, 72 Greco G., 86 Gregorio I., 56 Grilli A., 52 Grisanti S., 67 Groome J., 193 Grossi A., 57 Grossi F., 67 Gualandi F., 52, 56, 70, 77, 84 Guglielmi V., 63 Guglieri M., 51, 54, 155 Gülten Ö.T., 171 Günbey C., 179 Gündüz N.E., 168, 169, 180, 183 Güneş A.S., 163, 167, 174, 176

Volume XXXVII - Author index

Güngör S., 173, 175, 180, 182 Gürbüz İ.A., 180, 181, 182 Güven A., 174

Н

Hackman P., 83, 175 Haliloğlu G., 156, 163, 167, 169, 177 Hall J., 35 Hamroun D., 35 Han L., 50 Harbaran S., 40 Hauschka S.D., 35 Hazan F., 159 Heinig K., 55 Heller R., 155 Henderson A.B.H., 44 Henricson E., 50, 62 Hensel N., 154 Hergüner M.Ö., 164, 165 Hernandez-lain A., 156 Heybeci A., 174 Hidimoğlu B., 174 Hiz S., 161, 167, 169, 210 Hoffman E.P., 62 Horoz Ö.Ö., 164 Huovinen S., 83

lacomino M., 87 lannone F., 53 Imbrici P., 69, 73, 81 Incecik F., 164, 165 Incontrera A., 71 lolascon G., 241 Ipek C., 180, 181 Issabekova A., 160

J

Jin F., 173 Johari M., 175 Jones K.J., 57 Jonson H., 83 Jonson P.H., 175 Jurkat-Rott K., 193

Κ

Kahraman D.S., 174 Kara B., 163, 167, 174, 176 Karaduman A., 180, 181, 182 Karakaya M., 155, 156, 165 Kavurt A.V., 171 Kaya B., 174 Kayilioğlu H., 161 Khan N., 50 Khedr M., 44 Khwaja O., 61, 66, 75 Kiliç E.T., 177 Kiliç M., 168 Kiriko G., 47 Kirschner J., 75 Klein A., 61 Kletzl H., 61, 66, 75 Koca S., 171 Kocaefe C., 154 Kocak O., 162 Koger H., 172 Köken G., 179 Köken Ö.Y., 161, 162, 165, 172 Kömür M., 165 Konuşkan B., 165, 166 Kotan D., 161, 168, 175 Kotiadis V.N., 44 Koyunoğlu D., 154 Kraus S., 66 Kroger H., 172 Kucur Ö., 172 Kuhn M., 193 Kuloğlu Z., 160 Kumandaş S., 178 Kutuk O., 164

La Foresta S., 55 La Morgia C., 86 Labasse C., 46, 47, 59 Labate V., 70 Lacene E., 46 Laforet P., 39, 156 Laforgia N., 72 Laganà G., 55 Laing N.G., 156 Lamperti C., 86 Lanteri P., 84 Lanzafame M., 78 Lanzi G., 48 Lanzillotta V., 49 Lapenta L., 80 Laporte J., 47 Lapucci C., 67 Laschena F., 76 Lasorsa F.M., 79 Lattanzi G., 40, 47 Lehmann-Horn F., 121, 193 Lelli S., 63 Lembo F., 85 Lenzi S., 74 Leonardi L., 57 Leone A., 35 Lepessova M., 160 Lerario A., 71, 74, 80, 83, 257 Levy-Borsato F., 46 Lia A., 53 Liantonio A., 65, 81 Lizio A., 67, 73 Lo Giudice M., 77 Lo Monaco L., 49 Lo Monaco M., 69, 73 Longo A., 66 Lornage X., 47

Lozzi F., 86 Lu Z., 52 Lu-Nguyen N., 40 Lubieniecki F., 46 Lucchiari S., 73, 78 Lucchini M., 50 Luigetti M., 80, 81 Luo X., 172, 173 Lupica A., 48, 64

Μ

Maccarrone G., 63 Macchione F., 63, 74 Madelaine A., 46, 47 Madeo A., 87 Madia F., 87 Maestri M., 84 Maffioletti S.M., 44 Maggi L., 40, 47, 59, 69, 72, 73, 83 Magliocca M.C.G., 227, 267 Magnusson O.T., 47 Magri F., 49, 51, 73, 77, 88, 150 Main M., 60 Malandrini A., 79 Malerba A., 40 Malfatti E., 46, 47, 156 Mancardi G.L., 65 Mancuso M., 86 Mandich P., 72 Mannhardt I., 44 Mannironi A., 65 Mantegazza R., 69, 73 Manyas H., 167, 169 Marchesi M., 48, 56, 61 Maresh K., 155 Mareso S., 204 Marica M., 77 Marini F., 76 Marni J., 57, 150 Maroofian R., 155 Marotta J., 81 Marozzo R., 52, 58, 75 Marrosu G., 47, 156 Martinelli D., 86 Martinelli I., 88 Martini C., 204 Martinuzzi A., 49 Marty I., 46 Massa R., 85, 86 Masson R., 61 Mastella C., 35 Mastrangelo M., 74 Matinato C., 257 Mauro A., 70, 77 Mayhew A., 60, 150 Mayhew A.G., 57 Mazzone E.S., 60 Mcdonald C., 172 Mcdonald C.M., 50, 62, 173 McGeehan R.E., 53 Mcintosh J., 172, 173

Mela J., 77 Melani F., 88 Mele F., 89 Mele M.C., 80 Melis M.A., 77 Melki J., 151 Mendel J., 150 Mendell J.R., 57 Mendonca Peres Negrão L.J., 2 Meola G., 70, 73, 82, 85 Mercuri E., 47, 49, 51, 53, 54, 60, 61, 66, 69, 71, 75, 77, 80, 82, 172, 173 Meredithj J., 150 Merello E., 84 Merla G., 77 Mert G.G., 164, 165 Messina S., 49, 53, 64, 71, 77, 89, 241 Meyer B.F., 221 Miggiano G., 80 Mignarri A., 79 Milone M., 41 Minetti C., 39, 42, 46, 60, 63, 68, 70, 71, 72, 75, 87 Mirabella M., 50 Missaglia S., 54 Mitchell J.S., 44 Mitrani-Rosenbaum S., 149 Moggio M., 51, 66, 71, 72, 73, 74, 77, 78, 80, 88, 257 Mollar E., 67 Moneta G.M., 75 Monforte M., 50, 51, 54, 76 Monges S., 46 Mongini G., 241 Mongini T., 47, 49, 58, 73, 82,89 Monies D., 221 Montano V., 59, 85 Montes J., 60 Monti B., 79 Montobbio G., 71 Mora M., 54, 59, 72, 80, 83 Morandi L., 72 Morani F., 68, 83 Morasso P., 76 Moretti E., 74 Moretti P., 76 Morettini V., 83 Morgan J., 51, 54 Mori-Yoshimura M., 57 Moriggi M., 52 Morino S., 57, 59 Moro F., 76 Moroni I., 41, 86 Morra S., 159, 267 Morrone A., 68 Moscardi M., 83 Motuk I., 263 Moyle L.A., 44 Mueller L., 55 Mugnosso M., 76

Volume XXXVII - Author index

Muni Lofra R., 60 Muntoni F., 47, 51, 54, 60, 155, 172, 173 Murad H.N., 221 Murdocca M., 85 Musarò A., 65 Musumeci O., 48, 49, 62, 78, 86 Myrzaliyeva B., 160

Ν

Naryshkin N., 55 Nasca A., 47 Negrão L., 117 Neri M., 47, 52, 70, 77, 84 Neri S., 84 Nesti C., 63, 68, 77, 83, 87 Nevo Y., 151 Nicolai R., 75 Nicoletti T.F., 80 Nigro G., 159 Nigro V., 41, 66, 72, 77, 171, 272 Nisic T., 252 Novelli G., 85 Nowak K.J., 156 Nuccetelli M., 86 Nuernberg P., 155

0

O'mara E., 173 Oguz K.K., 168 Okur D., 210 Okur D.T., 169 Okuyaz C., 165 Oldfors A., 156 Oncel I., 174, 177 Orsini C., 67, 159, 272 Osman H., 52 Oteri R., 78 Ottaviani P., 76 Özbay F., 161 Özberk B., 167 Özcan N., 164, 165 Özcanyüz D.G., 164, 165 Ozdas S., 172, 173 Özdemir C., 154 Özer E., 156, 210 Ozer S., 183 Özgör B., 166, 173, 180 Öztoprak Ü., 161, 165, 172 Özyilmaz B., 176

Ρ

Paç F.A., 171 Padovani A., 48, 56, 61 Pagliarani S., 73, 78 Paketci C., 167, 169 Paketçi C., 210 Palladino A., 67, 159, 267 Panaghie G., 173 Pancheri E., 63, 78, 86 Pane M., 47, 49, 53, 60, 69, 71,80 Panicucci C., 39, 53, 76, 87 Papa A.A., 5, 159, 227, 267 Papa V., 52 Paradas C., 57, 59 Parkhurst Y., 78 Pasquariello R., 68, 83 Pasquini E., 68 Passamano L., 67, 158 Pasternak A., 60 Pastorino M., 77 Patani R., 44 Pati A.R., 79 Paulin L., 83 Paushkin S., 55 Pecini C., 74 Pedemonte M., 42, 46, 49, 53, 66, 68, 70, 71 Pegoraro E., 47, 49, 51, 57, 63, 71, 73, 77, 82, 88 Pegoraro V., 52, 58, 75, 79 Pehlivan E.K., 169 Peker Ö., 169 Peltz S.W., 172, 173 Pena L., 79 Pennisi E.M., 54, 59, 87 Pepler A., 193 Pera M.C., 60, 75, 80 Peric S., 252 Perna A., 80 Pesovic J., 252 Pestronk A., 57 Petillo R., 67, 159 Petralla S., 79 Peverelli L., 42, 51, 71, 74, 80, 83, 86, 88, 257 Phadke R., 47 Picco P., 84 Pichiecchio A., 48, 76 Piemontese M.R., 77 Pierno S., 65, 73, 81 Piga D., 73, 88 Pini A., 42, 68, 71 Pinton L., 44 Pinton P., 79 Piras R., 77 Pires Marafo D., 75 Pirola A., 67 Pochiero F., 68, 76, 87 Poeta E., 79 Pogoryelova O., 78 Poirier A., 55 Polat M., 159, 210 Poli C., 42 Politano L., 1, 40, 42, 47, 49, 66, 67, 71, 73, 77, 151, 158, 159, 171, 267, 272 Ponzalino V., 89 Popplewell L., 51, 54 Pozzolini G., 87 Previtali S., 47, 49, 51, 56, 59 Primiano G., 58, 81, 86

Primiano G.A., 50 Procopio E., 68, 76 Pulvirenti A., 65

Q

Queirolo P., 67 Querin G., 204

R

Rademacher S., 154 Raffaghello L., 39 Ragazzi M., 44 Rago A., 5, 267, 227 Rakocevic-Stojanovic V., 252 Ramirez G.A., 56 Ramsey D., 60 Rao F., 49, 67 Rastelli E., 86 Ratni H., 55 Ravelli A., 45, 75 Rebelo O., 117 Rendu J., 46 Renna L.V., 70, 82 Resta N., 72 Ribeiro J., 117 Ricci E., 50, 76 Ricci F., 82 Ricci G., 47, 49, 55, 59, 60, 73, 82, 85 Ricci M., 80 Ricciardi R., 84 Rimessi P., 56, 63, 77, 84 Rinninella E., 80 Ripolone M., 71, 78 Risato R., 63 Rocchi A., 82 Rodia M.T., 52 Rodolico C., 43, 47, 48, 62, 64, 69, 78, 80 Róg J., 53 Rolle E., 82 Roma E., 67 Romano C., 46, 65 Romero N.B., 46, 47, 59 Ronchetto P., 84 Ronchi D., 73 Rosendahl D.M., 161 Rosina S., 45, 75 Rossi A., 87 Rossi M., 82 Rossi R., 47, 52, 56, 77, 84 Rossi S., 80 Rosso T., 63 Roth F., 40 Rovere Querini P., 56 Rubegni A., 60, 63, 68, 76, 77, 83, 86, 87, 88 Rüdel R., 232 Ruggeri P., 49 Ruggieri A., 59, 72, 83 Ruggieri M., 65 Ruggiero L., 52

S

Sabatelli P., 40 Sacchetto R., 152 Sacchini M., 68 Sacerdoti D., 204 Sager G., 171 Sahbani D., 73 Şahin E., 169, 183 Salmaso F., 63 Salmin F., 83 Salort-Campana E., 57 Salvatore S., 79 Salviati L., 74 Sampaolo S., 64 Sancricca C., 81 Sandonà D., 152, 155 Sandri M., 43 Sangiuolo F., 85 Sansone V., 49, 51, 53, 67, 73 Sansone V.A., 73, 77, 83, 241 Santorelli F., 42, 85 Santorelli F.M., 44, 52, 60, 63, 68, 76, 77, 79, 83, 86, 87.88.89 Santoro L., 52 Sarcar S., 44 Saredi S., 72, 83 Sarparanta J., 175 Sartoris S., 78 Sauchelli D., 81 Savarese M., 60, 83, 152, 175 Savasta S., 46 Savic-Pavicevic D., 252 Sbano L., 79 Scala M., 84 Scali M., 71, 80 Scalise R., 82 Scarlato M., 56, 59 Scaturro G., 68 Schena E., 40 Schenone A., 65, 67, 72 Schirinzi E., 84 Schnell F., 51, 54 Schrank B., 155 Sciacco M., 71, 74, 80, 88, 257 Scoto M., 60 Scotton C., 47 Scuderi C., 77 Scutifero M., 67, 71, 159, 267 Seferian A., 51, 54 Sel Ç., 168 Sel Ç.G., 161, 172 Selby K., 173 Selcen D., 153 Selvatici R., 47, 52, 77, 84 Semplicini C., 47, 51, 57, 63.88 Şengün İ., 169 Serdaroğlu E., 166, 178

Serlenga L., 53, 72 Sertpoyraz F.M., 168, 169, 176, 178, 180, 183 Servais L., 51, 54, 61, 75 Servidei S., 50, 58, 81, 86 Severino M.S., 63, 84 Sewry C., 47 Sframeli M., 53, 89 Siciliano G., 42, 47, 49, 55, 59, 60, 69, 73, 82, 84, 85, 86.241 Silvestri G., 80 Simoncini C., 55, 60, 82, 85, 86 Sivitskava L., 263 Sivo S., 80 Smith F., 57 Soardi M., 152, 155 Solmaz I., 165 Sorarù G., 88 Sorbo M., 88 Sormani M.P., 60 Souza M., 172, 173 Spazzini L., 74 Sperlongano S., 227 Spitalieri P., 85 Spuler S., 57 . Stancanelli C., 53, 55 Steele-Stallard H., 44 Stefan C., 49 Sternberg D., 69 Stojkovic T., 57, 156 Stojkovic T., Straub V., 51, 54, 57, 78, 150.155 Strings-Ufombah V., 40 Süleyman M., 167 Sunguroğlu M., 154

T

Tabel Y., 173 Tacchetti P., 49, 66, 70 Tagiyev A., 166 Talarico V., 85 Talim B., 156, 161, 162, 165, 167, 168, 174, 175 Talu B., 180, 182 Tampoia M., 53 Tanda E., 67 Taratuto A.L., 46 Tasca G., 76, 153 Taşdemir N., 166 Tasfout H., 35 Taskiran C., 172 Taşkiran E., 154 Tassano E., 84 Tassinari C., 63 Tavian D 54 Tedeschi S., 77 Tedesco F.S., 44 Telese R., 62, 86 Temuçin Ç.M., 165 Teofoli F., 74

Terracciano C., 86 Tessa A., 77 Thompson N., 66 Ticci C., 86 Tiet M., 155 Tiftikçioğlu İ., 176, 178 Tiraş S.T., 160 Tironi R., 71, 74, 80, 257 Tolomeo D., 87 Tonin P., 63, 74, 78, 86 Topaloğlu H., 153, 155, 156, 165, 166, 169, 170, 171, 177, 179 Topcu M., 169 Topcu V., 165 Toplaoglu H., 163 Torchia E., 59, 87 Torella A., 72 Torraco A., 81 Torretta E., 52 Torri F., 60 Toscano A., 45, 48, 49, 62, 64, 73, 78, 80, 86, 241 Trabanelli C., 77, 84 Travaglini L., 77 Traverso M., 60, 87 Trevisan L., 72 Trevisi E., 49 Trifillis P., 172, 173 Tripodi S.M., 88 Triulzi F., 257 Trojano M., 53, 72 Trovato R., 88 Trucco F., 70 Tubili F., 68 Tulinius M., 173 Tunç A., 161, 167, 168, 170, 175 Tunçağ B., 176 Tuncay B., 178, 180 Tupler R., 57, 89 Turanoglu M., 183 Türkdoğan D., 171 Tyzack G.E., 44

U

Udd B., 83, 175 Ulzi G., 73, 78 Ünalp A., 159, 210 Uncu N., 174 Ünver O., 171 Utine G.E., 179 Uunalp A., 163 Uyanik G., 161, 210 Uyanik G.,

V

Vaikhanskaya T., 263 Valipakka S., 175 Van den Bergh P., 156 Vanoli F., 57 Varone A., 64

Vattemi G., 63, 74, 78 Vavla M., 49 Velardo D., 51, 56, 59, 73, 88 Venturoli A., 84 Verardo M., 59, 66, 69, 75 Vercelli L 47, 73, 89, 58 Verrigni D., 81 Verrillo F., 267 Vezzulli P., 59 Vial C., 69 Vianello A., 49 Vicario G., 63 Vihola A., 175 Villa L., 257 Villa M., 49 Vincenzi M., 74 Violano R., 78 Vissing J., 156 Vita G., 48, 49, 53, 55, 62, 64, 71, 77, 89 Vitacca M., 241 Vitale M., 62, 86 Vitaliti G., 65 Voit T., 155 Vollono C., 81 Volta S., 48 Vujnic M., 252

W

Wake R., 78 Walter M.C., 57 Wang W., 44 Weaver D., 47 Weetall M., 55 Weis J., 121 Wells D.J., 44 Wells K.E., 44 Winston V., 193 Wirth B., 155 Wunderlich G., 121

Y

Yalcin E.U., 163, 176 Yarar C., 156, 160, 162 Yardimci B.N., 182 Yerdelen D., 164 Yermakovich D., 263 Yeşil G., 171 Yetkin M.F., 178 Yildirim M., 166 Yilmaz Ö., 180, 181, 182 Yilmaz Ü., 159, 163 Yimenicioğlu S., 156, 160 Yiş U., 155, 161, 167, 169, 175 Yoldaş T., 172 Young C.N.J., 53 Yöyen Ermiş D., 154 Yüksel D., 161, 165, 168, 172 Yüksel M.F., 160

Z

Zabłocki K., 53 Zabun M.M., 171 Zaharieva I., 47 Zammit P.S., 44 Zamò A., 78 Zara F., 87 Zenzeri J., 76 Zeviani M., 47 Zirilli G., 78 Zoni L., 42 Zorludemir S., 164

VOLUME XXXVII - SUBJECT INDEX

Ataluren	272	l
Atrial fibrillation	5	ſ
Atrial flutter	5	ſ
Cardiocutaneous phenotype	263	ſ
Carvajal syndrome	263	ſ
Cavo-tricuspid isthmus radiofrequency abla	ation 5	ſ
Childhood	210	ſ
Core-rod myopathy	121	ſ
Cosmetic surgery	121	
Cytoplasmic inclusion	221	1
Dabigatran etexilate	227	
Desmoplakin mutations	263	
Dilated cardiomyopathy	117, 267	1
Distal hereditary	2	ſ
DNAJB6	221	1
Duchenne dystrophy	272	ı r
Dystrophin gene	117	ı I
Endurance and resistance training	241	(
External loop recorder	5	ļ
Genetic diagnosis	210	F
Heart transplantation	267	
Hetero-tetramer	193	F
HMGCR autoantibodies	257	F
Insulin resistance	204	0
Kir2.1 channel	193	0
Kir2.2 channel	193	(
Late-onset Pompe disease	241	0
LGMD	221	0
LGMD1D	221	-

Limb-girdle muscular dystrophy	210
Mapping technology	5
Mendeliome	121
Metabolic syndrome	204, 252
Motor function	241
Motor neuron disease	2
Motor neuropathy	2
Muscle magnetic resonance imaging	121
Muscular atrophy	204
Muscular dystrophy	221
Muscular MRI	257
Myotonic dystrophy	5, 227
Myotonic dystrophy type 1	267
Myotonic dystrophy type 2	252
Nebulin	121
Necrotizing myopathy	257
Next generation sequencing	117
Non alcoholic fatty liver disease	204
Obesity	252
Periodic paralysis	193
Pulmonary embolism	227
Pulmonary thrombus	227
Rehabilitation	241
Respiratory function	241
Saudi Arabia	221
SIGMAR1 gene	2
Spinal-bulbar muscular atrophy	204
Susceptibility gene	193
Symptomatic DMD carriers	272
Turkey	210

VOLUME XXXVII - LIST OF REFEREES CONSULTED IN 2018

Angelini, Corrado Bello, Luca Filosto, Massimiliano Imbrici, Paola Maggi, Lorenzo Mancuso, Michelangelo Meola, Giovanni Milone, Margherita Pareyson, Davide Pegoraro, Elena Piluso, Giulio Ricci, Giulia Rinaldi, Carlo Santorelli, Filippo M. Schenone, Angelo Sinisi, Antonio Agostino Toscano, Antonio Trojsi, Francesca

For application or renewal to MSM
MEDITERRANEAN SOCIETY OF MYOLOGY* (MSM) V. Nigro, <i>President</i> H. Topaloglu, <i>Past President</i> L.T. Middleton, G. Siciliano, <i>Vice Presidents</i> K. Christodoulou, <i>Secretary</i> L. Politano, <i>Treasurer</i>
APPLICATION/RENEWAL FORM
Application/Renewal for 1yr 2 yrs
Prof. Luisa Politano, Cardiomiologia e Genetica Medica, Primo Policlinico, piazza Miraglia, 80138 Napoli, Italy Fax: 39 081 5665101 E-mail: actamyologica@gmail.com • luisa.politano@unicampania.it Fax or Mail to the above address. Type or print.
Name Degree(s)
Last First
Department
Institution
Street Address
City, State, zip, country
Tel () Fax () Area code Area code
* Amount payable: 1 year Euro 100 2 years Euro 180
I enclose copy of the bank transfer to: Bank name:Banca Prossima Bank address: via Toledo 177/178 Account holder: MSM-Mediterranean Society of Myology IBAN code: IT80J0335901600100000160879 BIC/SWIFT code (for foreign countries): BCITITMX
1 1 1 1 1 1

1

INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS

Acta Myologica publishes articles related to research in and the practice of primary myopathies, cardiomyopathies and neuromyopathies, including observational studies, clinical trials, epidemiology, health services and outcomes studies, and advances in applied (translational) and basic research.

Manuscripts are examined by the editorial staff and usually evaluated by expert reviewers assigned by the editors. Both clinical and basic articles will also be subject to statistical review, when appropriate. Provisional or final acceptance is based on originality, scientific content, and topical balance of the journal. Decisions are communicated by email, generally within eight weeks. All rebuttals must be submitted in writing to the editorial office.

On-line submission

Manuscript submission must be effected on line: www.actamyologica.it according to the following categories:

Original articles (maximum 5000 words, 8 figures or tables). A structured abstract of no more than 250 words should be included.

Reviews, Editorials (maximum 4000 words for Reviews and 1600 words for Editorials). These are usually commissioned by the Editors. Before spontaneously writing an Editorial or Review, it is advisable to contact the Editor to make sure that an article on the same or similar topic is not already in preparation.

Case Reports, Scientific Letters (maximum 1500 words, 10 references, 3 figures or tables, maximum 4 authors). A summary of 150 words may be included.

Letters to the Editor (maximum 600 words, 5 references). Letters commenting upon papers published in the journal during the previous year or concerning news in the myologic, cardio-myologic or neuro-myologic field, will be welcome. All Authors must sign the letter.

Rapid Reports (maximum 400 words, 5 references, 2 figures or tables). A letter should be included explaining why the author considers the paper justifies rapid processing.

Lectura. Invited formal discourse as a method of instruction. The structure will be suggested by the Editor.

Congress Proceedings either in the form of Selected Abstracts or Proceedings will be taken into consideration.

Information concerning new books, congresses and symposia, will be published if conforming to the policy of the Journal.

The manuscripts should be arranged as follows: 1) Title, authors, address institution, address for correspondence; 2) Repeat title, abstract, key words; 3) Text; 4) References; 5) Legends; 6) Figures or tables. Pages should be numbered (title page as page 1). *Title page.* Check that it represents the content of the paper and is not misleading. Also suggest a short running title.

Key words. Supply up to three key words. Wherever possible, use terms from Index Medicus – Medical Subject Headings.

Text. Only international SI units and symbols must be used in the text. Tables and figures should be cited in numerical order as first mentioned in the text. Patients must be identified by numbers not initials.

Illustrations. Figures should be sent in .jpeg or .tiff format. Legends should be typed double-spaced and numbered with Arabic numerals corresponding to the illustrations. When symbols, arrows, numbers, or letters are used to identify parts of the illustrations, each should be explained clearly in the legend. For photomicrographs, the internal scale markers should be defined and the methods of staining should be given.

If the figure has been previously published a credit line should be included and permission in writing to reproduce should be supplied. Colour photographs can be accepted for publication, the cost to be covered by the authors. PATIENTS IN PHOTOGRAPHS ARE NOT TO BE RECOGNISABLE

Tables. Tables should be self-explanatory, double spaced on separate sheets with the table number and title above the table and explanatory notes below. Arabic numbers should be used for tables and correspond with the order in which the table is first mentioned in the text.

References. Reference numbers in the text must be in brackets. References in the list must be numbered as they appear in the text.

Standard journal article: Figarella-Branger D, Bartoli C, Civatte M, et al. Cytokines, chemokines and cell adhesion molecules in idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. Acta Myol 2000;19:207-8.

Books and other monographs: Dubowitz V. Muscle disorders in childhood. London: WB Saunders Company Ltd; 1978. Please check each item of the following checklist before mailing:

Three index terms, short title for running head (no more than 40 letter spaces) on the title page.

- Name(s) of the author(s) in full, name(s) of institution(s) in the original language, address for correspondence with telephone and fax numbers and email address on the second page.
- Summary (maximum 250 words).
- References, tables and figures cited consecutively as they appear in the text.
- Figures submitted actual size for publication (i.e., 1 column wide or 2 columns wide).
- Copyright assignment and authorship responsibility signed (with date) by all Authors.
- References prepared according to instructions.
- English style.
- Patients in photographs not recognisable.